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GLOSSARY
w5

Unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms used under B X E RSB AIEI TH AR ER - THEM®
Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and & - BB B m o B2 EBE  0EER

Analysis, Biographical Details of Directors, Corporate Governance Report, WR&E - EF @ RENAFU BB ERMAAE

Report of the Directors and Five-Year Financial Summary shall have the JEEBIA FATEASERE -

respective meanings set out below.

“2022 AGM” AGM held on Friday, 21 October 2022

[T —_FRRBFRE] s RZEZZFTAZT+—HAEHNRTORRBF Y

“2023 AGM” AGM to be held on Friday, 20 October 2023
—EC=FREBFEKRE] 5 BRZEZ=F+A-+HAERRTIRTEAFAE

“AGM(s)” annual general meeting(s) of the Company

(RRBEFKE] s RARRFBFRE

“Annual Report” annual report of the Company for the Year

[ ¥ 5 RARABAEEFERS

4

“Articles of Association’
modified from time to time

articles of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or otherwise

[HE=IRmA & RRRZ EBERAH (EARER B SITELE)

“associate(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

B Al 5 BB EmRAR T e R E

“Audit Committee” audit committee of the Board

[EzEE g & EFeEREEY

“Board” board of Directors

[Efg] Ec BEg

“CEQ” or “Chief Executive Officer” chief executive officer of the Company

[T 43 & KRB ZATIARE

“CFQO” or “Chief Financial Officer” chief financial officer of the Company

[EEF%E] i RRRIZERMEE

“CG Code” corporate governance code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

[rEERTA & EmRAIM SR+ E D EE AT

“Chairman” chairman of the Board

[FE] 5 EFxgxRE

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China and, for the purpose of the Annual Report, excluding
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

[ B | PEARKME  RAEHRME  TEEEE RABITHREREE
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“close associate(s)”

[EEmBeE AL

“Company”

NS

“Company Secretary” or
“Secretary”
[RAWE]k T WE]

“connected person(s)’

[EEAL]

“controlling shareholder(s)”
[ 12 A% A% 3R J

“COvVID-19”
[COVID-19]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“EGM(s)”
(AR R 4R K =]

“ESG”
[RE Lo hEA

“Executive Director(s)” or “ED(s)”

[HiTEE]

“Fan, Chan”

[SEER]

“Financial Statements”

[871 7% K

“Group”
(A&

“HKFRS(s)”

[BEMERELED]

GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)
% (&)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

BB LEWRAMETERE

Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited, an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the issued Shares of which
are listed and traded on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1470)
E-HBRZERERAA —HRARASESAMK I EREERAG HE
BITROPBRAMER LT RR S (BRI : 1470)

company secretary of the Company
RRABZARIMWE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LEWRRMETRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB ETRAMETERE

the novel coronavirus disease 2019
20194 ¥ 2 58 M 7k B Ik 7w

director(s) of the Company

KARESE

extraordinary general meeting(s) of the Company

ARBBRREFHKE

environmental, social and governance

RE #HeahEh

executive Director(s)

WITES

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, the Independent Auditor
EREEAIITAR QA - B EAD

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year

AEEAFEZHEAVBRE

the Company and its subsidiaries
/NS DS BN ) N

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants

BEGHMAGEM 2B BT B RS ER

E-BERERARAT —S-—=FF% 3



GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)

5 (&)

"HKS’
b

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“Independent Auditor”
[ 18 37 A% B |

“Independent Non-executive
Director(s)” or “INED(s)”

(B IFEHITEE]

“Listing Rules”

[ Er R Al

“Model Code”

GRS

“Nomination Committeg”

Rz Ea

“Prosper One”

=z

“Register of Members”

MR ER % i

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEE =

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
AR

“SFO”
[ 75 M & 1R 1

“Share(s)”
[ 17 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
e

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BRAETER

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEB TR

independent auditor of the Company
ZN/NSI bRV 34T

independent non-executive Director(s)

BYFRTES

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
B2 PriE s R A (B ANRER] - B RS ITELE)

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as contained
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHRAIEE+ATE EMBEITAZEFTETESFRHNEESTE

nomination committee of the Board

EFgRA%E8Y

Prosper One Enterprises Limited, a controlling shareholder of the Company

BEXARAR ARAHN - BEERKRE

register of members of the Company

AN AR A M

remuneration committee of the Board

ExeyMEEe

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR -hBEEEE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEEPIFESTIEZFRBMEGRO (ETRER] - BB SITELE)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
AABBRAPEHREEONE T 2 LB

holder(s) of the Share(s)
Betn 758 A
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)
AR ()

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
[ 556 22 P 5 BEEMERSMERRAA
“subsidiary(ies)” has the same meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
g NGl 5 BEA EmRAMME THEREE
“Year” year ended 30 April 2023
[ & BHE_Z_="FWA=1THILFE
“Year 2022” year ended 30 April 2022
—E_FE| s HE_Z_—_FMNA=THILFE
“%” per cent. or percentage
[%]ak[B D] i1 Bkt

E-BEBRERERLAT —ZS-=ZHEFH O



CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Meng Guangyin (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Guoging (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Liu Jiagiang

Mr. Li Dongpo

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan
Mr. Lee Chun Keung
Mr. Wang Luping

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Chun Keung

Mr. Wang Luping
Remuneration Committee

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman)
Mr. Meng Guangyin
Mr. Wang Luping

Nomination Committee

Mr. Meng Guangyin (Chairman)
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan
Mr. Lee Chun Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Liu Guoging
Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie

g

HITES

F R (EERITRAH)
2R E S (HEHHE)
200% % &

FRE KL
BYFHITES

AEELEE
FHEBEL
TERFEE

EEZETE

BEREES

HEELEE(EE)
FHEBLEE
IBR¥FEE

FWEES

AEELE(EE)
FERELE
IFR¥FEE

REZESE

FRBREL(EE)
R
FHEB L

DN EMWE

BRfRLt

REAE

FEELEE
ERBrt
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1408, 14/F

Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN
ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

ANCIE=¢ ¢ )

B2 BE

SEREEITERAA

FEFERBRT

FERT(FE)ARAA
ERRT(BR)ARATA
BERITERAR
BELBESRITERAA

RENEETELREMWE

i

HEHITEI515RE AL
14121403 %

AfREE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

FMEREXTERNBF
ERE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

[l
A
[l

E-BEBRERARAF

=FEEH [



CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
~ R E R (E)

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR EEROBFERTE
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited EEREELFELERAT
Room 2103B, 21/F B

148 Electric Road it B

North Point T RIB1485%

Hong Kong 21182103B=E
COMPANY’S WEBSITE YNES
www.prosperoneintl.com www.prosperoneintl.com
LISTING INFORMATION EmEH

Place of Listing: T

Main Board of the Stock Exchange B 22 BT £ AR

Stock Code B 2 K 5%

1470 1470

Board Lot BFEEEN
4,000 Shares 4,000 %
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETE®|E

To Our Shareholders,
B IR R

On behalf of the Board of Prosper One International
Holdings Company Limited, | hereby present the annual
report of the Company for the Year.

RABUAKRE -BEREZERERIAFAESSTREAN
DNERNAFREZFHR -

MENG GUANG YIN = E R
Chairman =&

E-ERERARAT —S-=F% 9



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

ERE®E (B)

BUSINESS REVIEW

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020, it has brought
unprecedented challenges to the Group’s watches retail business. Coupled
with the rapid rise of smart watches in the market, the popularity of mid-
priced branded watches has waned. Although the Group had implemented
various marketing strategies to boost sales, our retail shops still recorded
continuous losses. In order to navigate through this challenging business
environment, we are actively restructuring our retail business model. We
determinedly closed three underperforming shops upon expiry of the rental
agreements during the Year. The Group temporarily closed all retail shops in
November 2022 as the business performance of watches retail business was
severely affected.

In the second half of the financial year, the COVID-19 pandemic ended, and
the borders have reopened. In order to accommodate the return of mainland
and international customers coming back into the city, the Group is closely
monitoring the retail situation in Hong Kong and actively seeking out the best
retail shop locations available to attract the customers.

As for the trading business, the major products sold by the Group include
urea, compound fertiliser, coal, crude glycerine and glucose and the
application of urea can be broadly divided into agricultural, industrial and
vehicle uses. In 2022, rising raw material prices and increasing environmental
protection costs led to an increase in the production cost of fertilisers, thereby
driving up the fertiliser prices. In addition, under the impact of the Russia-
Ukraine war, the global energy supply was tight, which further pushed up the
international fertiliser prices. The Group’s sales team grasped the opportunity
of rising international fertiliser prices and demand to realize considerable
profits in its export business by virtue of its extensive business network.
However, the situation changed since early 2023. Affected by the weak
international urea market, both the export volume and price of urea dropped,
and the urea export business fell short of expectations. As the trading revenue
recorded a decent growth in the first half of the financial year, the Group’s
trading business still maintained a momentum of growth during the Year.

Facing with the difficult business environment, the Group showed strong
adaptability and adopted a series of measures to control its operating cost to
tide over the difficulties. The Group also focused on clearing slow-moving
inventories through sales promotion activities to accelerate stock clearance.
As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s net loss for the Year decreased by
approximately HK$3.7 million to approximately HK$2.7 million, as compared
to a net loss of approximately HK$6.4 million for the Year 2022.

B O

HE_-_ZT-ZFEJICOVID-19Z 5B B UK &
EEAANEENMETEEBERAAMEAE
HOPKBE - I EEREFHREM IS ERRIRIEHE -
FEMREFEANIBDRELD R &
EREECEMZBLH R ARENHS
WETEEEHNBESSHR  BEYE
BrmkEnmERE AMEEBREGEEMA
BANZEEHER KPR EAFERE =
MEBRBXRENSHAN P R REBEAEEEE
e AEBMR T _—_F+— AEEEMAM
ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁlﬁ%ﬁ;m%%m&%%
FRFmETE

R BUFEE T 4F - COVID-19Z 15 1R 45 - T ig
%ﬁé%ﬁmoﬁmAwm&I%Eﬁ@ﬁ
B AEEEEZVRBERSNTER

ﬁ%ﬁ%é%%%ﬁ%m&&ﬁuwaﬁ%o

EEZEBIE AEEEENTIZERE
EERE -HEAE Kx HEBAEREEE K

ERBRBASRER ITERFEARE R
:?::E B R BHER LR RRRK
A BHREMNEERA LT KWHES
JERHET - BN RBSBFEFE - 2R
HEER E-LHSEREER - BFEHE
BEZOEBESL AEENEEEKILER

m%ﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬂm%L REH
AXBHERABGNE - R P =

:_Emiﬁﬁmk°§lmﬁim%f@
e RERHOERERYEMTEK KREH
AXBAmER ARPRFE LFFEHE
THNEHREER ARENEZEBR
AERDRIGIERSLHE -

E%ﬁﬁ%““%%'$ﬁliﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FEE B 1 IRENT — R 5 FE M 1 ) H & E K
Zl»"fﬁéﬁﬁf&i@%ﬁ@ﬁ”ﬁ%lm‘\ JE B 38 38 (2 8
EEERREEST  UINREFEERE - @
REMER AREBRAFENEEFER
LHBTEBALERN2TEEA L M_FT=
ZFERSEEBERFENCATEST -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the Year, our Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$41.5
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$33.8 million from
approximately HK$75.3 million as compared to Year 2022.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company decreased by approximately
HK$3.7 million from approximately HK$6.4 milion for the Year 2022 to
approximately HK$2.7 million for the Year.

PROSPECTS

As the COVID-19 pandemic recedes and economic activities return to normal
from the pandemic, the domestic fertiliser market still has some support.
Fertiliser prices are expected to show a relatively steady trend with the
support of rising demand, but factors such as slack and busy seasons and
raw material prices may cause price fluctuations. As regards the export
business, due to the weak demand in the international urea market, it is
expected that the export price of urea will remain comparatively low in the
short term. On the road to development, we will inevitably experience some
ups and downs, but it is no doubt that we will continue to unswervingly
uphold the corporate development philosophy by strengthening the
relationship with customers and actively diversifying the customer base.
Meanwhile, the Group will make every effort to provide more high-efficiency
and high-quality fertiliser products to meet the needs of customers.
addition, the Group will continue to closely monitor market changes and
actively seek new development opportunities to create better returns for the
Shareholders in the long run.

In

With the success in the trading of compound fertiliser and urea, the Group
has gained abundant knowledge in the market and established strong
relationships with the end-users. The Group is exploring the possibility of
vertically integrating into the manufacture of these products, which will
increase the profit margin and enable a better quality control of the products.
The Group is conducting a feasibility study and intends to take a cautious
approach initially by leasing a production line from a third party for production.
If the results are favourable, the Group may further consider to establish its
own production lines in the future.

By expanding its offerings and streamlining the supply chain, the Group can
better cater to existing clients and capture a larger share of the compound
fertiliser and urea market. The Group believes the vertical integration wil
present significant growth opportunities for the Group and enhance the value
for the Shareholders.

=
= —
==}

EERE (B

B EE

RAFE AEBEHSEERHMNLEER
T BRIEZ_FEMHNTSIEERTRLLY
33.8EEBTT°

ARARHEBEANEEEBEER -_ZE-__FE0Y
AR BRETHAWITABAEATEARAEEY
2TEBEIT -

Al =

4

BEEZECOVID-19Z B HR K EEHENEE
FIREEE BEARBTEDE —EXiF-
B ESRKEANIET BHEKBER
HEFEBOHEDL EATEREMBEBRE
A EXERES REOEBMS -
RRBIEREMSHEREE - BatRBHRER
EHOEEBEFSEM - BRARERR &
BreoF LR HEERRMEER
TRACERERS BREARFUE BERZ

TEBRREFPER AR AEEKBEE2N

REEZeH EEANERER UAREP
BRI AEEREEZ B EIT 5E

b EERSRMNEREE REASBRRAIE
TP o

BHEEAELMREESHTENKY  AEH
Zﬁﬁamm%ﬂﬁlﬁﬁ BFRF#EYFE

MEER ASBLERREEEAETRER
FEMOAREN  KRERESMNEEX . KA H

EmMEEBEREEEN AKEBEETH
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂw%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂ*ﬁ%:ﬁ
HE-REERETEE -MEXEER X

SERKAESE - FEERIBRBEER -

BRABEAXEMBENMBHHER AKEA

FAMLBARARPYLHRECRREKEM
BHEANE - AKEMRE EEBAHAAL

TREEEEHE THRERABRER-

BEEZERARLA
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EEHE (F)

APPRECIATION &)

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my HAAEREXESeHE LIRS I LNRGPESS
sincere gratitude to the Board members, management and employees for F{C - TEENE TN ITIERNE - FARE
their hard work and dedication that enable the Group to face the challenges Bt AR AFEENEH M F EHEEHhE X1
and uncertainties during the Year. Last but not least, | wish to express my BHBEE Z o 5% - A AZ M A E - (L ER -
sincere thanks to our Shareholders, suppliers, customers and other business ZP R HMEKRZEHE R EZTONHE - X

partners for their ongoing trust and support. BE—EHURMEEELF -
Meng Guangyin TE

Chairman HER

Hong Kong, 31 July 2023 EB —E-_=Ft+tHA=1+—8H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the Year was approximately HK$41.5 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$33.8 million or 44.9% from
approximately HK$75.3 million for the Year 2022. Revenue derived from
trading business increased by approximately HK$2.7 million or 8.5% from
approximately HK$31.6 million for the Year 2022 to approximately HK$34.3
million for the Year. Revenue derived from watches business decreased by
approximately HK$36.5 million or 83.5% from approximately HK$43.7 million
for the Year 2022 to approximately HK$7.2 million for the Year. The decrease
in revenue derived from watches business was mainly due to the closure of all
retail shops during the Year.

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales primarily consists of cost of inventories sold and provision
for slow-moving inventories. Our cost of sales decreased by approximately
HK$29.6 million or 85.5% from approximately HK$34.6 million for the Year
2022 to approximately HK$5.0 million for the Year. The decrease was mainly
due to the decline in sales of watches.

Gross profit

The overall gross profit decreased by approximately HK$4.1 million or 10.1%
from approximately HK$40.6 million for the Year 2022 to approximately
HK$36.5 milion for the Year. Our gross profit of the watches business
decreased by approximately HK$6.9 milion or 75.8% from approximately
HK$9.1 million for the Year 2022 to approximately HK$2.2 million for the
Year. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the substantial decrease
in revenue from the watches business as a result of the closure of all retail
shops.

Selling and distribution costs

Our selling and distribution costs decreased by approximately HK$15.1
million or 52.1% from approximately HK$29.0 million for the Year 2022 to
approximately HK$13.9 milion for the Year. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the decrease of lease expenses of retail shops (including short-
term lease expenses and depreciation of right-of-use assets), depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, freight costs, repairs and maintenance,
building management charges, bank charges and sales staff’s salaries and
allowances. Over the past year, the Group closed all retail shops. As a result,
the core operating expenses relating to the Group’s watches retail business
reduced significantly.

=
= —
==}

BEBENWE DN

B 5 2] R

i &=

AREBAOKSEA ST —_FENNBIEE
BILBRIK4)33.8F &8 L 544.9% F AN F EH
HNSEEBT BHEBNAMEREH-Z
T ZHFEMN3IEEBITEMNN2TEEE
TLHBL5% EAFEHHB43E BB T - PRk

KM EKREHR S - FENLNIBTEE
BIT TR 4936.58 8 /8 T 8k 83. 5%52&@?&0
N72EEHBTT - MEREBL B MR D
TEARAFEMBAMBSE/EE -

$HE R
ﬁﬁm%%&$$%aﬁeﬁﬁ“&$&%

HEERE BRMMEEKREARZ
Em%msﬁgﬁxﬁ}mwﬁﬁﬁﬁxﬁ
85.5% ENFEENHS50EEBTT > ZB P ThE
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B THH T - —_FENN4I06EBBT
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EHRBEESHORSEBRTAEZEEH
M ANE T o

HE R D HKA

BN HEERDHEREAAT__FENHL
200EBELRLYIGAEE B TH2A%E
AEEMHIBOBEB T ZRPTIEEAR
%%Eﬁ%ﬁ%%i(%ﬁ%ﬂfﬁi&ﬁ
RAEEENE) ME BEEKRERE -
EW$‘&V&%§§‘ﬁ@EE§%‘ﬁﬁ
ERAREEEINF R EMAM LM B

E—F ASEHEAMETEEH Bt A
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BEREZERERLXIA =—2=-=
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN W RN (&)

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$2.1 million or
11.2% from approximately HK$18.8 million for the Year 2022 to
approximately HK$20.9 million for the Year. The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase in directors’ remuneration and impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment, which was partially offset by the decrease in
administrative staff’s salaries and allowances, impairment loss on right-of-use
assets recognised and financial advisory fee.

Finance costs

Our finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.4 million from
approximately HK$0.5 million for the Year 2022 to approximately HK$0.1
million for the Year. The decrease was due to the decrease in finance costs
on lease liabilities and bank loan interest.

Profit/(loss) before tax and loss attributable to
owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a profit before tax of
approximately HK$2.5 milion for the Year (2022: loss before tax of
approximately HK$2.3 million). The change was mainly due to the substantial
decrease in selling and distribution costs relating to the Group’s watches
retail business in Hong Kong and the increase in gross profit of the Group’s
trading business.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company decreased by approximately
HK$3.7 million from approximately HK$6.4 million for the Year 2022 to
approximately HK$2.7 million for the Year.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s primary source of funds were cash inflows from operating
activities and loans from the ultimate holding company.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$126.2 million (as at 30 April 2022: approximately HK$82.5
million), most of which were denominated in HK$ and RMB. The current ratio
(calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities) of the Group
decreased from approximately 1.2 time as at 30 April 2022 to approximately 1.1
time as at 30 April 20283. The gearing ratio (calculated by dividing net debt by
total equity) was not applicable as the Group maintained at a net cash
position as at 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2022. Net debt was calculated as
bank loan and amount due to ultimate holding company and lease liabilities
less cash and cash equivalents.

TR X

BT YXBE -2 - —FEHLN188H
EETENN2AIBEBTH 2% ELRFE
HA200EER T BN EEFENE
EHMEME  BERZERE/BIELN &
HHARTHREING S KE  BBERER
EEEMRERBBIARMEEREBRDAH
K84 o

Al & KA
HMHORMEKABR S -__FEMNLHOSE S
BILRLHOABEBTLERAFENHNOIESE

Bl ZBLTTAREEEBNRENE R
RITERN BB e

BRBATER(BER)RERAE
BAEBEEE

HREARE AEERAFEEESKRBA
BANKEBERT(ZE_—_F BHAE
BH23AEEL) FHEHNIEZRERANE
AEBEERETEXRHHBNEE RS H

RARBRD - ARKEEE 5 EBHEF
B e

ARG BEEABGEER-_S__FEMNY
CABBB TR Y TEESTLERAFENY
27TEEBIT

Bt 7 AR

AEENTEESRRARBLEET LK
BRERRARERZBEERA -

RZZE_ZFMA=Z1+RH AEBEHNRER
ReESEBYRENA1262B8BF T (R =
“FEMAB=+H: 4825888 7T) EF K
BAOUBTRARKESE KEBKRE L
E(BRARDEERUARDEEFE) AR =Z
T —FNAZTHRNI2BERLER ==
—EMAZFTHENOIIE - R_TE_=ZFN0
A=+HEZZEZZFWMA=+H ' ARR
SEERBFReRR MERAGELXR(EEA
EFERAESBEFE L TER - BEF
HRBTERREMZKERAGLEESR
BEREREREESRRCEEYTE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Year, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures by the Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 30 April 2023, the Group had a total of 55 (2022: 57) employees,
including Independent Non-executive Directors. The total remuneration costs
incurred by the Group for the Year were approximately HK$20.4 million (2022:
approximately HK$23.1 million). We review the performance of our employees
annually and use the results of such review in our annual salary review and
promotion appraisal, in order to attract and retain valuable employees.
Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
norms as well as individual qualifications, relevant experience and
performance.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to enable the Board to grant share options to eligible participants
with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company. As at the date
of the Annual Report, there was no outstanding share option granted under
the Share Option Scheme.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 30 April 2023 (as at 30 April 2022:
HK$4.0 million).

As at 30 April 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s bank borrowing was
denominated in HK$ and unsecured and approximated to its fair value.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group did not have any foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives.

=
= —
==}

MIEJE nj'nﬂﬂ&/-\*ﬁ'(n )

EARBEBROEHBE AR - B
ERAIREELRE

BRI+ AN 3 1 K M
MEBAR BERAARAELE-

18 & & %5 M B R

RZE_=ZFWNA=1+H AEEEHELE X
558 (ZZE =% :57R)RE (BIEBLIEH
TEZR) RAFE AEEEENHFMKA
BB R04BEBT(ZE = ZF : 49231
BEAL) RMNEBEEEREMKE IR
BEHEERRETTFETF SR REFT
%o ARSI RBEEENEES - FTHEBEBEE
2EMGHRE  AAEE HELCBREREM
BT

ARRCRABIAETS ((BRESE] - A
FEEERNAER2BAERIBRE K
FERERNARAERBARE - RAF R
A SERBEREFSRLORTER
P4

REEFD
RZEZ=ZFWEA=Z+H AEEWLER
TEFIMR-_ZZE-_—_FWA=Z1+H 4088
BIT) °
RZE-_—_FHNA=+H AEBIRITHEX

f
TEEEAETIEREER LRAAT
EHE -
R =

—_— = —

=SEMA=+TR AKELEEM
SNEEH) MIEREEIEMAEMSBITE
THE-

BEEZERARLA

=588 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN W RN (&)

As at 30 April 2023, the Group had no banking facilities (as at 30 April 2022:
approximately HK$4.1 million) for overdrafts and loans.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Group does not have a significant foreign exchange exposure and has
currently not implemented any foreign currency hedging policy. The
management will consider hedging against significant foreign exchange
exposure should the need arise.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at 30 April 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Company did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company other than its subsidiaries as at 30 April 2023.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any material capital commitments as at 30 April 2023
(as at 30 April 2022: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 30 April
2023 (as at 30 April 2022: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Year (2022: Nil).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Meng Guangyin (Z&3R) (“Mr. Meng”), aged 57, was appointed as
our Executive Director on 7 September 2017 and as the Chairman on 28
September 2017. He has been re-designated as an Executive Director, the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman on 1 April 2018. He is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Meng had been the chairman and the general manager of Ruixing Group
Company Limited* (2 E£B D BE A 7R]) since October 2003, and has
been re-designated as the chairman and the chief executive officer since
February 2013. He has more than 20 years of experience in manufacturing of
biochemical products for the agricultural industry. He holds a bachelor degree
in business administration from Shandong Economics Management College*
(ILRELBEERH L) in the PRC.

Mr. Meng is the brother-in-law of Mr. Liu Guoging, an Executive Director. In
addition, he is the sole director of Prosper One which owns 75% of the issued
Shares.

Mr. Liu Guoging (2| &), aged 52, was appointed as our Executive
Director on 7 September 2017, as the Chief Financial Officer on 28
September 2017 and as a Co-chief Executive Officer on 18 October 2017;
and was subsequently re-designated as an Executive Director and the Chief
Financial Officer on 1 April 2018. He obtained a Bachelor's degree in
corporate management from Beijing Business Management College* (3t R 1&
EEIRIHMEEPRT) in the PRC in July 2005. He joined Ruixing Group Company
Limited* (x££ B/ AR A 7)) in August 2003 with his current position as
the manager of finance department and as a deputy general manager since
January 2016. He has seven years of managerial experience in financial
matters and nine years of managerial experience in procurement and logistics
operations in Ruixing Group Company Limited*.

Mr. Liu Guoging is the brother-in-law of Mr. Meng, the Chairman, the Chief
Executive Officer and an Executive Director.

Mr. Liu Jiagiang (2/fni&), aged 50, was appointed as our Executive
Director on 7 September 2017. He obtained a degree in finance from
Shandong Agricultural University* (L5 23K in January 2016. He has
over 20 years of working experience, and spent eleven years thereof in a
managerial role. He has worked in Ruixing Group Company Limited* (25
B EBRAR]) since December 1995 and has served as the general
manager in the investment department and the manager in the capital
operations department since November 2016. He is the deputy general
manager of certain subsidiaries of the Company in Shandong, the PRC.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

ESEE (H)

Mr. Li Dongpo (Z=33), aged 50, was appointed as our Executive Director
on 10 December 2021. He graduated from Party School of the Provincial
Committee of Shandong in China* (FEAEZILREZESER) in
December 2009 majoring in economy management. He has over 25 years of
working experience in sales and manufacturing of fertiliser and biochemical
products for agricultural industry. He has worked in Ruixing Group Company
Limited* (2 £ ERMD AR A F]) since December 1995 and had served in
various managerial roles in different major departments since 2007. He has
been serving as the deputy general manager, general secretary and legal
director of Ruixing Group Company Limited* since December 2020 and is
responsible for management of Ruixing Group Company Limited*.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (H&#E) (“Mr. Tian”), aged 52, was appointed as our
INED on 20 September 2017. Mr. Tian is also the chairman of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Tian has over 20 years of working experience in
the fields of accounting and audit.

Mr. Tian joined ShineWing Certified Public Accountants Jinan Branch* ({55k
A ET R P IR B A %) R 29 FfT) in September 1994 and has been
the director of management consultancy department since July 2016, being
responsible for the business development and technical support of
consultancy service projects.

Mr. Tian obtained a diploma in financial accounting from Beijing Jiaotong
University (375 2238A23) (now known as bR Z@AE) in July 1994. Mr.
Tian is a registered certified public accountant of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Wang Luping (£& ¥) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 54, was appointed as our
INED on 27 December 2018. Mr. Wang is also a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wang completed his legal
speciality studies at Beijing Jinggiao University* b = RiEAE) in 1990 and
his undergraduate legal studies at China University of Political Science and
Law in 2005. He is a qualified lawyer in the PRC and has worked as a legal
professional for more than 25 years. He has been a director of Shandong
Faya Law Firm* (L 525K HE/2 A 55 %5 FT) since 2008.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lee Chun Keung (Z#:8), JP (“Mr. Lee”), aged 46, was appointed as
our INED on 14 December 2018. Mr. Lee is also a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Lee obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from Lehigh University in
Pennsylvania, United States in 1997, a Postgraduate Certificate in Business
Administration from the Open University of Hong Kong in 2000, and a
Certificate in Business (Accounting) from the School of Professional and
Continuing Education of the University of Hong Kong in 2007. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. He is currently the Vice
Party Chairman of the Liberal Party and a member of the Legislative Council
in Hong Kong and had been an elected member of the Eastern District
Council from 2012 to 2019.

Mr. Lee was appointed as a Justice of the Peace on 1 July 2023. He is also a
member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

* The English transliterations of the Chinese names are for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

i 5

BERARE

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to its Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating
elements of good corporate governance in the management structures,
internal control and risk management procedures of the Group so as to
achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures, internal control and risk
management procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability. The Company has adopted and adhered to the principles as
set out in the CG Code.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has adopted and complied with all
applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the Year
and up to the date of the Annual Report save for code provisions C.5.1, C.2.1,
C.2.7 and F.2.2 of the CG Code as disclosed in the Annual Report.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
governing the securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific
enquiry made by the Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the Model Code during the Year.
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CCWHNDRATE(MJVERNA&KHEREPCWTT«XDNT"NJED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures that
the requisite financial and human resources support is in place for the Group
to achieve its objectives. The functions performed by the Board include but
are not limited to formulating the Group’s business plans and strategies,
deciding all significant financial (including major capital expenditure) and
operational issues, developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s
corporate governance practices and all other functions reserved to the Board
under the Articles of Association. The Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. The
responsibilities of these Board committees include monitoring the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensuring that appropriate internal
control and risk management are in place. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to management of the Group if and when
considered appropriate. The management is mainly responsible for the
execution of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board
and assigned to it from time to time.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and the
management has an obligation to supply the Directors with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable the Directors to perform their
responsibilities. The Directors are entitled to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

Composition

The Company is committed to holding and implementing the view that the
Board should include a balanced composition of Executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors so that there is a strong independent
element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgment.

As at 30 April 2023, the Board comprised seven Directors, of which the
INEDs in aggregate represented more than one-third of the Board members.
The composition of the Board during the Year is set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Meng Guangyin

Mr. Liu Guoging

Mr. Liu Jiagiang

Mr. Li Dongpo
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEREBRE (B)

INEDS

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan

Mr. Lee Chun Keung
Mr. Wang Luping

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors” of the Annual Report.

Mr. Meng Guangyin is the brother-in-law of Mr. Liu Guoging. Save as
disclosed, there was no financial, business, family or other material
relationship among the Directors.

The INEDs have brought in a wide range of business and financial expertise,
experience and independent judgement to the Board. Through active
participation in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees,
all INEDs will continue to make various contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Year, the Company had three INEDs, which was in
compliance with the requirement of the Listing Rules that the number of
INEDs must represent at least one-third of the Board members, and that at
least one of the INEDs has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received a confirmation of independence in writing from
each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such
confirmation and not aware of the occurrence of any event that would impair
the independence of the INEDs, the Company considers that all the INEDs
are independent and have met the independence guidelines as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG code provides that the Chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the INEDs without the presence of other
directors. During the Year, no meeting was held between Mr. Meng, the
Chairman, and the INEDs without the presence of other Directors due to
business engagements. Since the INEDs have communicated and discussed
with the Chairman directly from time to time to share their view on the
Company’s affairs, therefore, the Company considers that there were
sufficient channels and communication for discussion of the Company’s
affairs between the Chairman and the INEDs.

Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Company provides each of the newly appointed Directors with a formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’'s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The Company will from time to time
fund and arrange suitable training to all Directors to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors
are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with their
training records. According to the training records maintained by the
Company, the continuing professional development programmes received by
each of the Directors during the Year is summarised as follows:

Name of Director

TREBRE (B)
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Type of training

EEfE 3% 3 % Bl
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Meng Guangyin HEREE AandBand C ANBRC
Mr. Liu Guoging 2 E L& AandBand C AKBXKC
Mr. Liu Jiagiang 2 hnog %k & AandBand C AKBKC
Mr. Li Dongpo EXS S AandBand C ARBEC
INEDs BYFHTES

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan HREE AandBand C ANBRC
Mr. Lee Chun Keung THER LA AandBand C AKBXKC
Mr. Wang Luping FR¥RE Aand Band C AKBEC
A: attending training sessions, including but not limited to, in-house/external A SIEIRIE - RIFERAN NS

seminars, briefings, conferences, forums and workshops

B: reading materials relating to the economy, general business, corporate
governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

C: reading newspapers and journals relating to the corporate governance matters,
environment and social issues or director’s duties and responsibilities
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEREBRE (B)

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND THE
SHAREHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code provides the Board should meet
regularly and board meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Notice of at least 14 days will be given to
the Directors in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice will be given in
a reasonable time in advance. The Directors are allowed to include any matter
in the agenda that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To
enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the
Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the
accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three days
before the intended date of the Board meeting, or such other period as
agreed. The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping all Board
meetings’ minutes. Draft and final versions of the minutes will be circulated to
the Directors for comments and record respectively within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

During the Year, two regular Board meetings and one other Board meeting
have been held and the Board has made resolutions by circulation of written
resolutions for all the Directors’ execution from time to time. In view of the
simplicity of the Group’s businesses, regular Board meetings have not been
held about quarterly during the Year. The Group’s audited consolidated
annual results for the Year 2022 and unaudited consolidated interim results
for the six months ended 31 October 2022 together with all corporate
transactions made during the Year have been reviewed and discussed
amongst the Directors at the Board meetings held in the Year. Together with
the circulation of written materials to keep the Board informed throughout the
Year, sufficient measures had been taken to ensure that there was efficient
communication among the Directors, including the INEDs. The attendance of
each Director at the Board meetings for the Year and the 2022 AGM is set
out below:

Name of Directors
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REFECEZEGERR_T__FRRE
FREZHFEREEHTMOT
Board
Meeting(s) 2022 AGM
—_Eg-—
EEgg RRBFARE

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings Eligible to Attend

BEHERE
EEng FERHESRERY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Meng Guangyin AEREAE 1/3 0/1
Mr. Liu Guoging 28 B % A& 3/3 11
Mr. Liu Jiagiang 21058 % & 3/3 11
Mr. Li Dongpo TR L E 3/3 1/1
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Name of Directors

% $&¢(1»\E)

Board
Meeting(s) 2022 AGM
—E-=
EZE2ER BRRBFARE

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings Eligible to Attend

CHERE
EENR CEREEERRE
INEDs BAFHTES
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan BERLE 3/3 1/1
Mr. Lee Chun Keung EXCP s 3/3 11
Mr. Wang Luping TEFEE 3/3 1/1
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FEEFETHRAE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of the chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. During the Year and up to the date of the Annual
Report, Mr. Meng Guangyin acts as the Chairman and the CEQ. In view of
the fact that Mr. Meng Guangyin has been operating and managing the
Company since 7 September 2017, the Board is of the opinion that it is
appropriate and in the best interests of the Group to have Mr. Meng Guangyin
taking up both roles for effective management and business development.
Therefore, the Board considers that the deviation from code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstances. Nevertheless, the
Company will look for suitable candidates and will make necessary
arrangement pursuant to the requirement under code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code as and when necessary.

DIVERSITY

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) which recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business. All Board nominations, appointments and re-
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for
the benefits of diversity of the Board members and the nomination policy of
the Company. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
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TEREBRE (B)

The Board will strive to maintain gender diversity when recruiting and
selecting the workforce across the Group’s operation. As at 30 April 2023, all
Board members are males. To achieve gender diversity on the Board level,
the Board will endeavor to appoint one female Board member no later than
31 December 2024.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy at least
annually to ensure its continued effectiveness, and where necessary, will
make revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

At the meeting held on 31 July 2023, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and was satisfied with its implementation
and effectiveness during the Year. For details, please refer to the section
headed “Nomination Committee”.

Workforce Diversity

As at 30 April 2023, the gender ratio of male and female in the workforce of
the Group (including senior management) was 87% and 13% respectively.
For further details of gender ratio together with the relevant data, please refer
to the disclosure as set out in the separate ESG report of the Company. The
Group’s approach for talent recruitment and retention is to employ a diverse
team that works together and encourage differences and individuality in
employees with respect to equal opportunities and diversity. Notwithstanding
that, in view of efficiency enhancement, a measurable objective for achieving
gender diversity at the workforce level has not been set. The Group is
determined to commit to a diverse approach which provides equal
consideration and opportunities to all qualified candidates regardless of
gender in terms of hiring and promotion process.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF THE BOARD

In compliance with code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company has
established mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board (the “Mechanisms”). The Board currently comprises
three INEDs who have years of experience from different aspects, including
but not limited to accounting and finance, legal and business management.
The INEDs are able to provide independent and appropriate opinions to the
Board so as to ensure that the Board can obtain independent views and
opinions that it requires when exercising its powers and making major
decisions. The Company makes certain that the Board has access to
independent views and input through the Mechanisms listed below:

1. The Nomination Committee should review the Board composition,
independence, qualification and time commitment of the INEDs
annually, in particular the proportion of the INEDs and the
independence of the INEDs who have served for more than nine years,
where applicable.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company under Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules from each of the INEDs in relation to his/her
independence to the Company. The Company considers all its INEDs
to be independent.

&) In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid conflict of
interests, the Directors who are also directors and/or senior
management of the controlling shareholder and/or certain subsidiaries
of the controlling shareholder, would abstain from voting in the relevant
Board resolutions in relation to the transactions with the controlling
shareholders and/or its associates.

4. All members of the Board are given an opportunity to include matters in
the agenda for Board meetings.

B All members of the Board can seek independent professional advice
when necessary to perform their responsibilities in accordance with the
Company’s policy.

The Board have also taken into account the respective contributions of the
INEDs to the Board and their firm commitments to their independent roles.
During the Year, all the INEDs do not hold any cross-directorships or have
any significant links with other Directors through involvement in other
companies or bodies that could give rise to conflicts of interest in their roles
as INEDs and they are not involved in the daily management of the Company
nor in any relationships or circumstances which would affect the exercise of
their independent judgment. They continue to demonstrate their ability to
provide an independent, balanced and objective view to the affairs of the
Company.

TREBRE (B)
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TEREBRE (B)

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Mechanisms annually. At the meeting held on 31 July 2023, the Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Mechanisms during the
Year and considered that the Mechanisms remain effective.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain Board committees, including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and upon
reasonable request, members of the Board committees are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 21 April 2015 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and code
provision D.3 of the CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee were revised on 1 January 2019 to conform with the requirements
under the CG Code and the Listing Rules. Such written terms of reference are
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. It comprises all the three INEDs, namely Mr. Lee Chun Keung, Mr.
Wang Luping and Mr. Tian Zhiyuan who is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include but are not
limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors, and approving their
remuneration and terms of engagement, and handling any questions
regarding their resignation or dismissal;

° reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards and discussing with the external auditors the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
commences;

° developing and implementing a policy on engaging external auditors to
supply non-audit services and reporting to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where an action or
improvement is needed;
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° monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts and half-year report, and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

° oversighting the Company’s financial reporting system, and risk
management and internal control systems;

° discussing the risk management and internal control systems with the
management to ensure that the management has performed its duty to
have such effective systems;

° considering major investigation findings of internal control matters as
delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings;

° where an internal audit function exists, ensuring co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors, ensuring that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within
the Company, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness;

° reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

° reviewing the external auditors’ management letter, any material queries
raised by the auditor to management about the accounting records,
financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

° ensuring that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues
raised in the external auditors’ management letters; and

° considering other topics as defined by the Board.

During the Year, two Audit Committee meetings were held and the Audit
Committee, amongst other matters, considered and approved (i) the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year 2022; (i) the
unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the six months
ended 31 October 2022 for presentation to the Board for its consideration
and approval; and (iii) audit-related matters.

TREBRE (B)
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TEREBRE (B)

The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee meetings during the
Year is as follows:

Name of Directors

EBVFNTEERNAFELHREEZZESY
REIMT

Ezu'}“z

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

HERE

CEREE
EENS BEAXE
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman) AEREE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Lee Chun Keung AL 2/2
Mr. Wang Luping TEFLAE 2/2
The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules that at least AR AR B &S FHiEBIE3211K 240 F—
one of the members of the Audit Committee (which must comprise a @ ZEZEZES(ZELEF=LKE ' NERE

minimum of three members and must be chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director) is an Independent Non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The audited Financial Statements have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee at its meeting held on 31 July 2023. The Audit Committee is of
the opinion that such consolidated financial statements comply with the
applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules and that adequate
disclosures have been made. The chairman and the members of the Audit
Committee attended such meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21 April 2015 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were revised on 16 February 2023
to conform with the requirements under the CG Code and the Listing Rules.
Such written terms of reference are published on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
comprises two INEDs, namely Mr. Tian Zhiyuan, Mr. Wang Luping and an
Executive Director, Mr. Meng Guangyin. Mr. Tian Zhiyuan is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.
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The principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include but
are not limited to:

° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policy;

° reviewing and approving the management’s performance-based
remuneration by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and senior management. This should
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment;

° making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the
INEDs;

° considering the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in
the Group;

° reviewing and approving the compensation payable to the Executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of office
or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with the contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° reviewing and approving the compensation arrangements relating to
the dismissal or removal of the Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with the contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

° ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration; and

° reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

TREBRE (B)
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TEREBRE (B)

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting, among
other things, (i) reviewed and recommended to the Board for consideration
and approval certain remuneration-related matters of the Directors and senior
management; and (ii) reviewed the share option scheme of the Company. The
chairman and a member of the Remuneration Committee attended such
meeting.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at the
meetings of the Remuneration Committee during the Year is as follows:

Name of Director

FNZEERAFERTT —AEF RNE
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

HERE
BEBEE
BEEps =P8
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan (Chairman) AE&REE(EE) 11
Mr. Meng Guangyin HERLAE 0/1
Mr. Wang Luping TEFEE 1/1

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 April 2015 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The written terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. It comprises two INEDs,
namely Mr. Tian Zhiyuan and Mr. Lee Chun Keung, and an Executive Director,
Mr. Meng Guangyin. Mr. Meng Guangyin is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include but
are not limited to:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the

selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

° assessing the independence of the INEDs;
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EEER®E (K

o making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re- . MESTLTAIRERBUALASEE(LERTE

appointment of Directors and the succession planning for the Directors, FEREETBRAB)ETHERNESS
in particular, the Chairman and the chief executive; and RHEsE

o reviewing the policy on Board diversity and any measurable objectives o R EEeZ TR ERESTE NG A
for implementing such policy as may be adopted by the Board from EmZBEmMEENEMAIztE8ER
time to time and to review the progress on achieving the objectives. ERIRE -

During the Year, one Nomination Committee meeting was held and the REHZEEERAEERTT —AeH : R
Nomination Committee, among other things, () reviewed the structure, size % F 122 ZE@ (AT e (kilEgsa
and composition of the Board; (i)assessed the independence of the INEDs; (i) 28# ~ AR A © ()FF R B IEHITESE 2
recommended to the Board for consideration the re-appointment of the &1 : (iR EBEET S L LiL K%
retiring Directors at the 2022 AGM with adequate consideration of the Board E#HEZeRN T -_—_FREBEASEZE
Diversity Policy; and (iv) reviewed the measurable objectives (ncluding the ABREREEE: MV EHETEE % b
skills set, knowledge and experience) for implementing the policy on Board X% &) 7] 5+ £ B /& (0 B 68 - A3 & &8 8) A
diversity and the progress on achieving the objectives. Two members of the REZFEREMERE MBIELEE KB
Nomination Committee attended such meeting. HETHZE®-

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at its mestings JIEZZEeKERAEELFRZELES

during the Year is as follows: EEIREWAT
No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Name of Director Eligible to Attend
HERE
EERERE
EEpgg BRNRH
Mr. Meng Guangyin (Chairman) aBEREE(FE) on
Mr. Tian Zhiyuan HE&EE 11
Mr. Lee Chun Keung T4 11

NOMINATION POLICY R’ ABXR

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the selection, EZZEZE @ EIRE T RFRERLAIETHES (8
appointment and re-appointment of a Director including an INED in BV IEHITEET ) NTE ZELREERE

accordance with the following procedures and process: EeREES:

i The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the current | REAZESBRNEEEEEEE SR
composition and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, MAKERER BEtlEe—MmMEHR
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the search effort; e B NKREE UERYEe Ik
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TEREBRE (B)

The Nomination Committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as
referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations from a
third party agency firm and proposals from the Shareholders with due
consideration given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(@  Diversity in the aspects of, amongst others, gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

(b)  Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest (details of the Board Diversity
Policy set out above);

(c)  Qualifications, both academic and professional,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the business(es) of the Company and its subsidiaries is/are
involved;

including

(d)  Independence (for INEDs);

(e)  Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the Board;
and

(9  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as
interviews, background checks, presentations and third party reference
checks;

The Nomination Committee will consider a broad range of candidates
who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of contacts;

Promptly after considering a candidate’s suitability for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of written
resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;
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The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information of the
selected candidate to the Remuneration Committee for consideration
of the remuneration package of such selected candidate;

The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation
to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment, and where a
non-executive Director is considered, the Remuneration Committee will
make the recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be interviewed by
the members of the Board, who are not members of the Nomination
Committee and the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as Director, as the case may be) to be filed with the
relevant regulatory authorities, if required.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which include but
are not limited to:

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Group;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the directors of
the Group; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEREBRE (B)

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

To outline the Group’s expectations and requirements on prevention,
detection, reporting and investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption and
other similar irregularities; and to provide information and guidance on
recognizing and dealing with bribery and corruption, the Group has
established its anti-corruption policy that complies with code provision D.2.7
of the CG Code.

With the commitment to ethical operations, the Group adheres to the principle
of integrity and has zero tolerance towards corruption or other unethical
behaviours. In order to completely eliminate illegal activities such as bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering, the Group has established a code of
conduct in its Staff Handbook. The Group requires all employees to abide by
the code of conduct to ensure that they consistently uphold the highest
standards of professional ethics. For details, please refer to the disclosure in
the separate ESG report of the Company.

The anti-corruption policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

Committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards of openness,
probity and accountability, the Group has established a whistleblowing policy
which forms an important part of its effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The whistleblowing policy provides the necessary mechanisms for all
stakeholders, including employees, Shareholders, customers and suppliers,
to report any suspected misconduct or malpractice within the Group in
confidence through our whistleblowing channels. Complaints are handled by
designated staff and findings are reported to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee will ensure that appropriate action is taken on the findings.

The whistleblowing policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

I 18 BUBUR

BIBEREEEH L R KREMAS
EATERTRONBPEMER: RARMHE
AR NMEEEERBRNEARES A
SEEHANTAEEERTA ZTRMEXE
D.2.7 15 EY [ & BR ISR »

AEBEROARBERLE BITHERA
HESHEMATERTARNTERRE
E-RTRELEBHRE R RF- X
BERETR AEBEAE(E I F M) 6
ATRERN AEBERMBEREETT
REA NEARESHRKERFESREEDN
BEBR FBFL2HA2ARTHEN
RE HEMRERRSANKE -

AEBEHRAREFTRBBREEK  UFTE
BREVERERARITEREED -

EHEBE

AEBHOREBERYERF LR REMBE
MEEIRE GIRTRRERK  ZBRBUEA
BEAREERABEFRAOEZAKIED

BHEBRSMAENZHBAL(EERE K
R -B2PhHEBIRHOZOMRS - LEB
BB HRRBERETBBAEEAEM AT 5E
MAETRIERTR - RFTVHAEETLE
AERE YREBERZEEREAEER -
ERZEERBAHEAEARRKIEE N
78 -

REEE B RA R BT EREK
REERERANRITERERED -

AT & &

&

36 Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023



CON%RKEGDWWNMKERH%RT@ONW%EM

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year and each of the INEDs has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year. The extension of the
terms or the renewal of any such service agreements or letters of
appointment, where necessary, will be in compliance with the Listing Rules
and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or
as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the first AGM after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

All the Directors, including INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation and
will be eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association. At
each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at the AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation
shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire
by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and does not offer himself for
re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those who have been
the longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as
between the persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees
of the Group for the Year are set out in Notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEREBRE (B)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities
and opinion on the Financial Statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of the Annual Report.

For the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Independent Auditor in
respect of the Year is set out below:

BURHBMEEIRME

ERBYIREMBEMBERR2AREEIRE

B2 Bt - #5538 S A% BED S
—ffie

RAFERN  AFEEEN TN BILIZEEH
eI T

Services Fee paid/payable

R e ENER

HK$’000

FAET

Audit services EZRE 900

Non-audit services TR
— Auditor’s letter on continuing connected — AR ERER S WX B &4

transactions 50

Total FEE 950
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY INRESPECT EEZHHBHRRZ2EFE

OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
Financial Statements.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Audit Committee reviews the adequacy of the Group’s internal financial
controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies
and systems established by the management of the Company, including
those related to the issues as set out in the ESG report that are significant to
the operation of the Company and/or substantially affecting the Shareholders
and other key stakeholders, to ensure compliance with the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide and the Listing Rules
(collectively “internal controls”).
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CORPORATEGOVERNANCEREPORT«XMTHNUED)

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

For the Year, the Board has conducted a review and assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management. Such review has been made by discussion with the Audit
Committee, management and the Independent Auditors, if applicable, from
time to time, but at least once a year. The Board will put in place to address
the identified area that will be enhanced. The Board considers that the
existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate and
effective.

The Company also has an internal audit function to carry out the analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems, and
has procedures in place to keep information confidential and manage actual
or potential conflicts of interest. Stringent internal structures have been
designed to prevent the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of
interest.

The Audit Committee has received the summarized information on the risk
management and internal controls conducted by the internal audit team. The
work carried in relation to the identified areas are summarized as follows:

(i) the results of selective testing of internal control procedures, assets,
and financial records of the Company;

(ii) a general evaluation of risk management and internal control systems
installed by the Company; and

(iii)

an outline of major control issues, if any, noticed during the Year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the summarized information and
discussed with the management.

The Board is responsible for the overall internal control framework and is fully
aware of the need to put in place a system of internal controls within the
Group to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group’s assets,
and to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the systems in place
are adequate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEREBRE (B)

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing
Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced promptly. The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure
by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to the
public through channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and the Company’s website;

o the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for responding
to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that only the
Executive Directors, the Company Secretary and the financial controller
of the Company are authorised to communicate with parties outside
the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring that reliable and
relevant flow of information is maintained amongst members of the Board and
that all procedures have been adhered to in accordance with applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie (“Ms. Tung”) was nominated by Boardroom
Corporate Services (HK) Limited to be the Company Secretary on 30 June
2022. The primary person at the Company with whom Ms. Tung contacted in
respect of the company secretarial matters was Ms. Mancy Wai, the financial
manager of the Company.

Ms. Tung attended over 15 hours’
development training during the Year pursuant to rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

relevant continuous professional
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its Shareholders and investment public.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its announcements, circulars as well as
annual and interim reports. The corporate website of the Company has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

On 21 October 2022, the Company passed a special resolution to amend its
memorandum and articles of association (the “M&A”) at the 2022 AGM in
order to, among others, (i) conform to the amended Appendix 3 to the Listing
Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2022 and applicable laws of the
Cayman lIslands; (i) allow the Company to hold hybrid general meetings and
electronic general meetings; and (i) make other house-keeping amendments
to the existing M&A for the purpose of clarifying existing practices and making
consequential amendments in line with the proposed amendments. For
details of the amendments, please refer to the circular of the Company dated
26 August 2022.

Save as disclosed above, no significant changes have been made to the
Company’s constitutional documents during the Year. A consolidated version
of the Company’s constitutional documents is available on the Company’s
website and the website of the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION

The Company has adopted a Shareholder’'s communication policy with an
objective to provide the Shareholders with detailed information about the
Company so that they can exercise their rights as Shareholders in an
informed manner and allow them to engage actively with the Company. The
Company would review the Shareholders’ communication policy on a regular
basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEREBRE (B)

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
Shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives. These
include AGM, EGM, annual report, various notices, announcements and
circulars. Procedure for demanding a poll wil be included in circulars
accompanying the notice convening a general meeting and such procedure
will be read out by the chairman of the general meeting or his delegate. The
AGMs and other general meetings of the Company are primary forum for
communication between the Company and its Shareholders. The members
of the Board, Board committees and the Independent Auditor are present to
answer Shareholders’ questions at the AGMs. The Company will provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a
general meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable the
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). As
a channel to promote effective communication, the Group maintains a
website where the Company’s announcements, financial information and
other information are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to
the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with any
inquiries.

Pursuant to code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code, the Company will invite/has
invited representatives of the Independent Auditor to attend the 2023 AGM
and the chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee to attend the forthcoming 2023
AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions regarding the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the independent auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditors’ independence.

Mr. Meng Guangyin, the Chairman, did not attend the Company’s 2022 AGM
due to other essential business engagements. In order to ensure an effective
communication with the Shareholders, the Directors attending the 2022 AGM
elected Mr. Liu Guoging, an Executive Director, to chair the meeting on behalf
of the Chairman. The respective chairmen and/or members of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
and a representative of the Independent Auditor were present at the 2022
AGM to answer relevant questions from the Shareholders. To mitigate the
above, future AGMs will be scheduled earlier to avoid the timetable clashes.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s Shareholders communication
activities conducted during the Year and is satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to make proposals or move
resolutions at the AGMs under the Articles of Association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands. However, Shareholders who wish to make proposals or
move a resolution may, however, convene an EGM in accordance with the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM” set out below.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EGM

Written requisition of any one or more members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights at general
meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis, in the paid share
capital of the Company, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition and
the foregoing members shall be able to add resolutions to the meeting
agenda; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one location which will
be the principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board or the Company by
post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which sets out the basic
principles in determining the distribution of the dividends to the Shareholders
(the “Dividend Policy”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEREBRE (B)

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

(i) the financial results and financial condition of the Group;

(i) the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group; and

(v)  the general economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Law of the Cayman lIslands, the Articles of Association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and reserve the right at its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend, and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as
it deems fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount for any specific period.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and
publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is
to ensure that information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and
complete, thereby enabling the Shareholders, investors as well as the public
to make rational and informed decisions.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance could ensure an
effective distribution of the resources and protection of Shareholders’
interests. The senior management will continue to use its reasonable
endeavours in maintaining, enhancing and increasing the Group’s corporate
governance level and quality.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present to the Shareholders their report for the Year and the
Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in (i) the retail and wholesale of watches in Hong
Kong, and (i) the acting as a sales and trading agent of fertilisers raw
materials and related fertiliser products.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating segment is
set out in Note 6 to the Financial Statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 152 of the Annual Report. The
summary does not form part of the Financial Statements.

FAIR REVIEW OF BUSINESS

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the Year and the likely future development in the
Group’s business are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” sections of the Annual Report. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the “Five-Year Financial Summary” of the
Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are various risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, which may
materially adversely affect its business, financial conditions or results of
operations. As some of the projects are located in the PRC, the political,
economic and legal developments and changes to government policies in the
PRC may have a significant impact on the Group.

The financial risks of the Group included currency risk, interest rate risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. These financial risks are elaborated in Note 31b to the
Financial Statements of the Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHE (A

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has in place compliance and risk management policies and
procedures, and members of the senior management are delegated with the
continuing obligation to monitor adherence to and compliance with all
significant legal and regulatory requirements by the Group. As far as the
Company is aware, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the places where it operates in all material respects during the
Year and up to the date of the Annual Report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise employees, customers, suppliers, Shareholders
and other stakeholders. During the Year, there was no material or significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other
stakeholders.

Employees

The Group recognizes that employees are the valuable assets for the Group’s
continuous development. The Group provides competitive remuneration
package by reference to market norms as well as individual qualifications,
relevant experience and performance to attract and retain valuable
employees.

Customers

The Group is committed to providing good quality service to its customers
and enhance the loyalty of customers by increasing the interaction with
customers through email, telephone or direct communication, which provide
a good foundation to our Group’s overall performance in the long run.

Suppliers

The Group has maintained good relationships with its suppliers. The Group
cooperates with suppliers that are committed to quality of products.
Shareholders and other stakeholders

The Group has made an ongoing dialogue with its investors and Shareholders
as provided in the “Investor Relations” and “Shareholders’ Communication”
paragraphs of the Corporate Governance Report of the Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

ESG

The Group continually reviews its ESG efforts, corporate governance and risk
management practices with the aim of creating and delivering sustainable
value to all key stakeholders. The Group has been exploring more efficient
opportunities to reduce the consumption of resources in order to reduce its
impact on the environment.

A separate ESG report will be published on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company at the same time as the publication of the
Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 69 of
the Annual Report. The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the Year (2022: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are
set out in Note 26 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 72 of the Annual Report and Note 37 to the Financial Statements,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 30 April 2023, the Company had no distributable reserves (2022: Nil).

Details of the movements in the distributable reserves during the Year are set
out in Note 37 to the Financial Statements.

AGM

A notice convening the 2023 AGM will be issued and dispatched to the
Shareholders in due course in the manner required by the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EESHE (H)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend and vote at the
2023 AGM, the Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday, 17
October 2023 to Friday, 20 October 2023 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending
and voting at the 2023 AGM, the non-registered Shareholders must lodge all
duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Boardroom Share
Registrars (HK) Limited, at Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North
Point, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16
October 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which oblige the Company to
offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 99.2% of the total purchases and purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 67.3% of the total purchases.

For the Year, the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 41.3% of the total sales and sales to the largest customer
accounted for approximately 19.1% of the total sales.

The largest supplier is ultimately controlled by Mr. Meng Guangyin, the
Chairman and an Executive Director and the ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Company before 15 February 2023 and the second largest supplier is
a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Meng Xiao who is a cousin of Mr. Meng
Guangyin.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the number of the Company’s issued Shares) had any interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loan of the Group during the Year are set out in Note 25 to the
Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
Annual Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Meng Guangyin (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Guoging

Mr. Liu Jiagiang

Mr. Li Dongpo

Independence Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan
Mr. Lee Chun Keung
Mr. Wang Luping

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
Board shall hold office only until the first AGM after his appointment and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors will retire by rotation at each AGM. In addition, code provision B.2.2
of the CG Code stipulates that each Director shall retire from office by rotation
at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire
by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of
Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to
offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of
the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been the
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as
between persons who became or were last re-elected or appointed Directors
on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the Board
pursuant to article 83(3) shall not be taken into account in determining which
particular Director or the number of Directors who are to retire by the rotation.
Accordingly, Mr. Meng Guangyin, Mr. Tian Zhiyuan and Mr. Lee Chun Keung
will retire from office as Directors by rotation and are eligible to offer
themselves for re-election at the 2023 AGM.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHE (A

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual written
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and is not aware of any event undermining their independence. As such, the
Company notes that all the INEDs are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors, secretary, independent
auditors and other officers shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall or any of them may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company had arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of any
potential legal action against the Directors and senior management in respect
of potential legal actions that may be incurred in the course of performing
their duties.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 17 to 19 of the
Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Meng Guangyin, Mr. Liu Guoging and Mr. Liu Jiagiang have renewed their
service agreements with the Company for a term of one year commencing on
7 September 2022. Mr. Li Dongpo has renewed his service agreement with
the Company for a term of one year commencing on 10 December 2022.
Their service agreements may be terminated by not less than one month’s
notice in writing served by either party on the other.

All the INEDs were appointed for a specific term of one year, but subject to
the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other applicable
laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Tian Zhiyuan has renewed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of one year commencing on 20 September 2022. Mr. Lee Chun Keung
and Mr. Wang Luping have renewed letters of appointment with the Company
for a term of one year commencing on 14 and 27 December 2022
respectively. Their appointment letters may be terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2023 AGM has an
unexpired service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group for the Year are set out in Notes 12 and 13 to the Financial
Statements, respectively. The remuneration packages of the Directors are
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board
as described on page 31 of the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the Year are set
out in Note 33 to the Financial Statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the Year or as at the end of the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTEREST

Save as disclosed in the Annual Report, no contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any contracts of any significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at any time
during the Year or as at the end of the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHE (A

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 April 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief
executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, were as follows:
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Mr. Meng Guangyin (“Mr. Meng”) Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 600,000,000 75%
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1. The 600,000,000 Shares were held under certain trust units under the
Changjiang Absolute Return China Fund (the “Changjiang Fund”), in which Mr.
Meng, the Chairman, the CEO and an Executive Director, was beneficially
interested via his wholly-owned company Prosper One, and managed by
Changjiang Asset Management (HK) Ltd (the “Changjiang Asset”), Mr. Meng’s
asset and fund manager. Mr. Meng is the sole shareholder and the sole director
of Prosper One and is deemed to be interested in the 600,000,000 Shares in
which Prosper One is interested under the SFO.

2. The percentage of shareholding interest in the Company shown in the table
above is calculated on the basis of 800,000,000 Shares in issue as at 30 April
2028.

3. All interests stated above represent long positions.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Interest in the Shares of Prosper One — the
immediate and ultimate holding company of the
Company

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest

EEERE (A

Interests in ordinary
shares of Prosper One

Percentage of
shareholding

EEnA B REatE E-MNEBERER BREDL
Mr. Meng Beneficial owner 1 100%
AL EmEEA A

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Directors are aware, as at 30 April
2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which were required: (a) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), (b) pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 30 April 2023, the following
entity (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:
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Notes:

1. The 600,000,000 Shares were held under certain trust units under the
Changjiang Fund, in which Mr. Meng, the Chairman, the CEO and an Executive
Director, was beneficially interested via his wholly-owned company Prosper One,
and managed by Changjiang Asset, Mr. Meng’s asset and fund manager. Mr.
Meng is the sole shareholder and sole director of Prosper One and is deemed to
be interested in the 600,000,000 Shares in which Prosper One is interested

under the SFO.

2. The percentage of shareholding interest in the Company shown in the table
above is calculated on the basis of 800,000,000 Shares in issue as at 30 April
2028.

3. All interests stated above represent long positions

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2023, so far as the Directors or chief
executive of the Company are aware, no other persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) or entities had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the Year and up to the date of the Annual Report, the Directors are not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the management of the
Company and their respective close associates that compete or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of
business are provided under note 33 to the Financial Statements. Save for
the continuing connected transactions disclosed below, none of the related
party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. In relation to those related party transactions that also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under the
Listing Rules, they have complied with the applicable requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Group for the Year (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) are as follows:

Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions
subject to reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements

Purchases of fertilisers from Shandong Runyin Fertiliser
Technology Company Limited* (L 5 EEIEERIF AR A
A]) (“Shandong Runyin”)

On 18 February 2022, the Company and Ruixing Group Company Limited*
(“Ruixing”) entered into a new purchase agreement to purchase fertilisers
from Ruixing and its subsidiaries (together, the “Ruixing Group”). During the
Year, the Group had purchased fertilisers such as urea and compound
fertilisers from Shandong Runyin, a subsidiary of Ruixing, for resale to
independent customers. The transaction values for the purchases amounted
to approximately HK$498.6 million. As the Group is considered to be acting
as agent in respect of these purchase and sale transactions, the Group
recognised commission income of HK$24,447,000 for acting as agent in
these transactions.

Shandong Runyin is ultimately controlled by Mr. Meng, the Chairman and an
Executive Director and the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company
before 15 February 2023. Therefore, Shandong Runyin is an associate of Mr.
Meng and thus a connected person of the Company before 15 February
2023.

The annual cap of the transaction value under the purchase agreement shall
not exceed HK$500 million, HK$600 million and HK$700 million for each of
the three years ending 30 April 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.
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Purchases of fertilisers from Shandong Nongyuan
Nongzi Company Limited* (LEREREEGRDT)
(“Shandong Nongyuan”)

On 18 February 2022, the Company and Shandong Nongyuan entered into a
new purchase agreement to purchase fertilisers from Shandong Nongyuan
and its subsidiaries. During the Year, the Group had purchased fertilisers from
Shandong Nongyuan for sale to independent customers. The transaction
values of the purchases amounted to approximately HK$198.8 million. As the
Group is considered to be acting as agent in respect of these purchase and
sale transactions, the Group recognised commission income of
HK$8,637,000 for acting as agent in these transactions.

As Shandong Nongyuan is a company owned as to 51% by Mr. Meng Xiao
who is a cousin of Mr. Meng, Shandong Nongyuan is, therefore, deemed to
be a connected person of the Company.

The annual cap of the transaction value under the purchase agreement shall
not exceed HK$200 million, HK$150 million and HK$100 million for each of
the three years ending 30 April 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

*

The English transliteration of the Chinese name is for identification purpose only.

Confirmations from the INEDs and the Independent
Auditor

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed the
Continuing Connected Transactions and confirmed that the transactions had
been made:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal or better commercial terms; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as
a whole.

The Independent Auditor was engaged to report on the Continuing
Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The Independent Auditor has issued their
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed above in accordance with rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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The Independent Auditor has performed agreed-upon procedures regarding
the Continuing Connected Transactions as set out above and states that:

(@  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved by the
Board;

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group;

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
Continuing Connected Transactions have exceeded the annual caps as
set by the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem its listed securities nor did the Company or any
of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such securities during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float of the issued Shares (i.e. at least 25% of the issued Shares in
public hands) during the Year and thereafter up to the date of the Annual
Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the service contracts of the Executive Directors)
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed by the Shareholders on 21 April
2015 (the “Adoption Date”).

1. Purpose and Participants

The primary purpose of the Scheme is providing eligible participants
with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and to
motivate, attract and retain the eligible participants (the “Participants”)
whose contributions are important to the long-term growth and
profitability of the Group. Participants of the Scheme include any
employees, Executive Directors, non-executive Directors (including
INEDs), advisors, consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

2. Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company (excluding options
lapsed pursuant to the Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company) must not exceed 80,000,000, representing 10% of the
issued Shares of the Company as at the Adoption Date and the date of
the Annual Report.

3. Acceptance of offer

Offer of a share option shall be deemed to have been accepted by the
grantee when the duplicate of the relevant offer letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together with a
remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof, is received by the Company within
28 days from the date of the offer.

4. Subscription price

The subscription price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a
price determined by the Board at its sole discretion and notified to the
Participant and shall be no less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date on which a Share Option is granted, and (ii) the average of
the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
date on which a Share Option is granted; and (i) the nominal value of a
Share.
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Maximum entitlement of Shares of each
Participant

(i) Subject to paragraphs (i) and (jii) below, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted to each Participant (except for the parties
mentioned in paragraph (i) below) (including both exercised,
cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

(i) Notwithstanding (i) above, any further grant of share options to a
Participant in excess of the 1% limit or the limit mentioned in
paragraph (i) below (as the case may be) shall be subject to
approval by our Shareholders in general meeting with such
Participant and his or her close associates (or his associates if
the participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
The number and the terms of the share options to be granted to
such Participant shall be fixed before the Shareholders’ approval
and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such further
grant should be taken as the date for grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price.

@iy A substantial Shareholder or an INED, or any of their respective
associates can be granted options comprising the underlying
Shares (a) in aggregate not over 0.1% of the issued Shares or (b)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of the grant, not in excess of HK$5 million.

Exercise of share options

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme and such other terms and conditions upon which a share
option was granted, at any time during the option period after the share
option has been granted by the Board but in any event, not longer than
10 years from the date of grant. A share option shall lapse automatically
and not be exercisable (to the extent not already exercised) on the
expiry of the option period.

Duration of the Scheme

The Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the Adoption Date, after which period no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall in all
other respects remain in full force and effect and share options which
are granted during the life of the Scheme may continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.
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On 4 January 2018, the Company offered to grant to certain Participants
options, which were subject to, among others, a refreshment of the scheme
mandate limit for the Scheme (the “Refreshment”). The resolution concerning
the Refreshment was duly passed by the Shareholders at an EGM held on 25
January 2018.

As the offers of the grant of the share options had not been accepted by the
selected Participants in accordance with the terms and conditions of the

Scheme, no share options were granted and outstanding as at 30 April 2023.

No share options were exercised or cancelled or lapsed during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company has not entered into other equity-linked agreements that (j)
would or might result in the Company issuing Shares or (i) would require the
Company to enter into any agreements that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares during the Year and up to the date of the Annual
Report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the Year, the Group made charitable donations of HK$3,000 (2022:

Nil).

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares of the Company.

MATERIAL EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group did not have any material subsequent event after the reporting
period and up to the date of the Annual Report.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Annual Report (including the audited
Financial Statements) and the annual results announcement of the Company
for the Year and had submitted the same to the Board for approval. Members
of the Audit Committee are of the opinion that the Financial Statements, the
results announcement and the Annual Report have been prepared in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
the relevant statutory provisions and that an adequate disclosure has been
made.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Fan, Chan, will retire as the Independent Auditor and being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming 2023 AGM to re-appoint

Fan, Chan as the Independent Auditor until the conclusion of the next AGM
and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

PUBLICATION OF INFORMATION ON THE
WEBSITES

The Annual Report will be available for viewing on the website of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkex.com.hk and on the website of the Company at www.
prosperoneintl.com in due course in the manner required by the Listing Rules.

By order of the Board

Meng Guangyin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 July 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BED

SR G 3 ERAT A R 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF PROSPER ONE INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prosper One
International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 151, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2023, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were R Bt FTELRSRIBER PN E X HE > R A
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of ¥ ARG A M B R RN BT ZAEEN S
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 1§ - ELEIHEE R P BT B LR A B R
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our X®RERHEESEEBEFTEREREN - BT eHE
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Lt HIFIREEBFBH = F o BRI T A T ATt
We have determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter =18 ABRN A E R BB HARETEIE -

to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

st EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMPNAREAPTEERREETSBH

Valuation of inventories

FEGE

Refer to notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

AR AR A T E Mt 4K 18

We identified valuation of inventories as a key audit matter
because the carrying amount of inventories was significant
and the assessment of recoverability of the carrying amount
involved significant judgement and estimation uncertainty.
BN FEHESNSEREATE REARFERE
BEEEAX - BAREE AR & E A H &%
SE MG S -

The Group had inventories of gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$11,837,000 and an allowance for write-
down of inventories of approximately HK$10,251,000 as at
30 April 2023.

RZEZ=FNA=+H ESEHEBEEEALEY
11,837,000/ 7T B) 77 & K& 910,251,000 7% 7T &) #OR F &
B -

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s valuation
assessment of inventories included:

BMEREREEMETFERENGNBRTEFEH

° Understanding the Group’s key controls in relation to the
identification of slow-moving inventories and measurement
of the allowance for write-down of inventories;

. B EREHEBFIFEFERGEMATERE
BRI RS

° Understanding and evaluating the appropriateness of the
basis used by the management in estimating the level of
inventory allowance, taking into consideration the
inventory aging as at 30 April 2023 and subsequent sales
after 30 April 2023;

e REBNR-_Z_=FHA=+tHZEEERRI_-FT
“EFNOA=THBRZEEHE  BREIFIHER
Bzt FEREBESERMEAKRENES L

E-BEBRERERLAT =3 FER O3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B M % BT R & ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HEEt SR

BAREFTETE@

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMOAREH T EERRESNSR

Valuation of inventories (continued)

FEGE(H)

In estimating the allowance for write-down of inventories, it is
the Group’s policy to review the net realisable value of
inventories periodically with reference to aging analysis,
seasonality and current market conditions. These
assessments are subject to uncertainties arising from
changes in market trends, customer tastes and current
business environment.

EMTHMAFESRER EXENBRELEREKD
M RBATACHERFENAIZEERFE - Z
ENMETSBE EPMREBEUREMNEBRRES
BRI EE LI E -

Assessing and examining the assumptions and estimates
applied by management in determining the allowance for
slow-moving inventories, including discussing with the
management for the assumptions and judgement made
in assessing net realisable values and evaluating
reasonableness of the management’s assessment of
saleability of inventories with reference to historical record
of the inventories;

AR BEEEREREEC A HTERERARAZ
BELMGG REREBEEN WA A ZEFE
RRIEzBRERAE R2ER/REEFE ﬂﬁ'%ﬁ
EREHTSEZAHEBAZAMELE AR

Assessing the historical accuracy of allowance for slow-
moving inventories to evaluate the appropriateness of the
basis made by the management in the current year; and
HEEEERBANTHFERBSDER  EMmar
HEBERAFEFEEHNELERAE &

Comparing the carrying amount of the inventories, on a
sample basis, to their net realisable value through review
of subsequent sales. Where there are no subsequent
sales of the respective inventories subsequent to the year
end date, we challenged management on the
assumptions and basis applied to estimate the net
realisable value of the inventories, corroborating the
explanations with aging, consumer demand and market
trends of the respective inventories, as appropriate.
BREREEHERFTERAEREA 2R FEE
ﬁﬁﬁmﬁoéﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁaﬁiﬁ&%%
ER MR EBEERAFEANEZRFEREADN
BREEE URAEFENRKR HEEFT KR
mEBECGRAEERME)EHRAREHEIREE
HEH -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

BB RS (E

HE R

BERREFFTHEMEEAR - HMESE
BRHENFRANZEES ETRESS
MM R MBI ZEEN RS

BMHEEAVBREINBEAL TREL M
B BEATTHZFEMEEEREMPA
BEEE M o

REBRMEGEAFBEHRRNEFTE &
PMWETEHELMER  EULBET  ZE
HiEEREEGEMBRERARMESR
BETHTHRNBEAFEEREBNE LT
FEEAERFANERL  EREMEHT
MIE MRERMARBSEMESFEEKRNE

R HMFEREZEE -HEEIEH &
PR B EAIRE »

Lu

5.‘:?@@3?%?%%5%*&

BERAAEFARERBEEBEAMAGRM
ZEEMBHRELENRBB(RBEOAE
BAEHBEEMTEZEAMBHRE X
HERBRESEVBRRZAB I FER
MEFFRERMER CERERRAMTF 2
NEEFARE -

ERBEAVBHRRE EFAATMH B
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B M % BT R & ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

LREMBETSRSMBHRR
AigzEE

1

BMWER —RYGAVBHRRERLRES
TEEARBRAFRERMEB 2 EARERR
AREAERBLZLEEHMEBEREZER
B E - AMERBEMANBEZ BIERE
M BTHERER) ZEL YEEMBM-
BT ERAREZATRAEMNEMALE
B AEERNEE - e B REBEKFZR
& ETERBRECEEERNENETZE
O EX-ERERRAGERBEER - 5
AR AT R IRFEREERM S R ETE
HZEHRRLEBELARERTETER
EMBERREBERBEAVBRMIEL 2
RERE  BIER 2 BRI AT BRARIEE X ©

ERB(EABFEADETES ZBES R
MERTHERHE RETEXREEE R
7R -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB RS (E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REMABAGZEMBRE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL &gz ST mw

STATEM ENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going e HEERAKEKEStARZBAE R
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence B Ewm WREFMES ZERE
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or Tt RFrEHEEBERBREBA ZIEKX
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to THREEE KmagEEs E£EZ#F
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty BEEgENEEERREE - WHRMRA
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the FEBEARTHEEMN  BEVEEZEM
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such REFIRBERELIEGEAMBHRERF
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are JHBERZE-WEBEETE - M
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s EERRREER - HAzE&Rm2ER
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to ZEMSE B IEFTIRE ZETRE A
cease to continue as a going concern. - RRFEHNBEAATEER HE

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the e SIEBEEMBERR CEBEBIH®AR &

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and BRAD BEEE UWRESVKR
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying RebPERIEBRLZMEIE -

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial e m EERRNSEENEK I Z2HBE

information of the entities or business activities within the Group to EEERNAER BEZETREZ NUE
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are HIGZAUMBREZRER -HMEAESE
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group Bt zHhA BEBEHIT ZRPAEE
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. FERAEXIEF-

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among B HEMEIEIN KM EBEBEESE B THE 2
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit Tt & &  BE L - EXAEBFRIEZ B
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we  #& 3 FI1E T 5T 7 3% Bl 5 A 20 152 &1 2 (E o] & K
identify during our audit. TRPE o

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we K fiE R AERIZEXLEH  HBERMEFTE
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, BG4 2 HHE E @2 2k - I B b 9
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may BB B R ee S Bt RZ Ao R FE 4
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, ZFFEBMENLEMEE  UREBEAB ZER

action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. TABEKREE R AITE) S A & Fh &4 i -
E-EBRERERAEY —ZT-=FF%H 6/



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B M % BT R & ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Rooms 1007-1012
10/F., K. Wah Centre
191 Java Road
North Point

Hong Kong

31 July 2023

Lam Wai Yan
Practising Certificate Number: PO6906
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeEERkHEMEERER

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—ZE_-_=FMA=1+HILFE

2023 2022
—E_=F —EFE-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
o &t FHET F& T
Revenue W5 5 41,510 75,269
Cost of sales HE KA (5,005) (34,647)
Gross profit E 7 36,505 40,622
Other gains and losses Hab Wz R EE 7 856 5,413
Selling and distribution costs HE ko KA (13,880) (29,006)
Administrative expenses TERAX (20,889) (18,801)
Finance costs A& AR 8 (96) (625)
Profit/(loss) before tax B i A A1 (B 1) 9 2,496 (2,297)
Income tax expense Fris i X 10 (5,153) (4,149
Loss for the year attributable to owners of RRATHEE AEMS
the Company FAERE (2,657) (6,446)
Other comprehensive expense HibZ2mEAX
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to Higgesii 2
profit or loss EBmIHH
— Exchange differences arising from translation ~ — # & /5N E S FTE £
of foreign operations HOIE 5 = 58 (2,062) (706)
Total comprehensive expense for the year KABEEEAEEFEA
attributable to the owners of the Company MM AR (4,719) (7,152)
Loss per share — basic and diluted EREE -—EXAREE
(HK cents per share) €=3::92 31D 14 (0.33) (0.81)

E-BEBRERARAA

—=g&% 69



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &R

As at 30 April 2023 HRZ=Z==FPMA=+H

2023 2022
—g=-= —_F-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
K aF FET FAET
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NMERE 15 929 126
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 = -
Rental deposits HERS 20 - 47
Deferred tax assets LR IBE = 17 237 237
336 410
Current assets MEBEE
Inventories FE 18 1,586 5,350
Financial asset at fair value through EATEGFAER
profit or loss MNEmEE 19 - 3,684
Trade receivables, other receivables and JEURE 5 3kIE - HAb
prepayments FE UK TE K TR A R IE 20 73,485 71,957
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEED 21 126,190 82,459
201,261 163,450
Total assets BEE 201,597 163,860
Capital and reserves BN R 1 4
Share capital R% 7R 26 8,000 8,000
Reserves & 8,853 13,572
Total equity 48 M 7 16,853 21,572
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
e M BARR K (E)

As at 30 April 20283 HR-—ZE-_=FPA=+H

2023 2022
—g=-= —E-—

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
K aF THET FHET

Non-current liabilities EnBaE
Provision for other liabilities and charges HWaERERES 22 - 74
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 - 135
- 209

Current liabilities mEARE

Trade and other payables B 5 N H b FE T I8 22 137,736 100,005
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 135 860
Amount due to ultimate holding company FE it S X4 IR N Bl 3K IR 24 46,060 35,690
Bank loan RITER 25 - 4,000
Tax liabilities RIEAE 813 1,524
184,744 142,079
Total liabilities =Ri=f L0 184,744 142,288
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 201,597 163,860

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 151 were approved ZH69E 151 H V Z E G A MBERECHES S
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on and are signed on its — # /& RT3 - WU TRERZ :
behalf by:

Mr. Meng Guangyin Mr. Liu Guoging
REREE ZIEE L
Director Director
BE BE

E-ERERERAT —T-=%5% /|



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n\f\é*ﬁé%@%

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BZE-Z-_=FMNA=1+HILFE

Share Share Capital  Statutory Translation Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
BEx KOEE BEXHEE LERE EIRE 2 ER RRAE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAL FTAT TAET FTHET TAT FTAET
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hzt1) (Hizt2)
Balance at 1 May 2021 R-T=-—
AA-AMES 8000 118,368 24,004 2,767 1,538 (126,043) 28,724
Total comprehensive expense 2 HEH A%
Loss for the year FRER = = - - - (6,446) (6,446)
Exchange differences arising MEBINEBRES
on translation of foreign HEXZS
operations - — - - (706) - (706)
Total comprehensive expense 2ERATAB = - - - (706) (6,446) (7,152)
Transfer to statutory reserve BREATRE - - - 1,194 - (1,194) -
Balance at 30 April 2022 and R-ZTE-—F
1 May 2022 MA=+HEEK
—E-CF
TA—BM&sH 8,000 118,368 24,094 3,961 832 (133,683) 21,572
Total comprehensive expense 2 [ B X 4 58
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (2,657) (2,657)
Exchange differences arising MEBINEBRES
on translation of foreign HENZE
operations — — - — (2,062) - (2,062)
Total comprehensive expense 2HERAT B = — - - (2,062) (2,657) 4,719
Transfer to statutory reserve B ELTERHE = - - 1,775 = (1,775) =
Balance at 30 April 2023 R-E-=F
MA=+BMELE 8000 118368 24,094 5,736 (1,230) (138,115 16,853
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

hREEa SR (E)

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

Note 1:
The balance of capital reserve comprises the following:

On 23 June 2011, Mr. Lam Man Wah (“Mr. Lam”), one of the previous controlling
shareholders of the Company, acquired the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of
the Company from an independent third party. The difference between the fair value of
the equity interests acquired and the consideration paid amounting to HK$1,610,000
was credited to the capital reserve.

On 31 October 2014, Mr. Lam agreed to waive part of its lending to the Group. The
waived amount of HK$14,282,000 was recognised as deemed capital consideration
and credited to the capital reserve.

On 9 April 2015, the Company allotted and issued 5,833 and 94,166 of its shares to
Ms. Ma Lili and Tic Tac Investment Holdings Limited, a company owned by the previous
controlling shareholders, respectively, to acquire their respective shareholding interests
in the subsidiaries of the Company.

As a result, a balance of HK$3,902,000 was credited to the capital reserve representing
the difference between the carrying value of the non-controlling interest of Jenus Top
International Limited acquired over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange thereof. The combined share capital of the other
subsidiaries of the Company of HK$4,300,000 was reclassified to capital reserve upon
the completion of the Group reorganisation.

Note 2:

As stipulated by the relevant regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operating in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of their profit after tax as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to equity owners. The statutory reserve can be used to make
good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into paid-up capital by
issuing additional capital to the owners in proportion to the owners’ existing equity
holdings, provided that the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

E-EEBRERBRLA

Kttt -
ERARBREABIEUTEE:

R-EBE——EXA-+=B MXEEE((THh%
£]) BAARHER—BAERBRE) M —BBILE
ZHRBARR BB AR ZIEIERER - BT
EREAENREBEZHENAFEES1,610,000/8 7T
Bt AEARNGEE -

R-ZZE—NE+A=+—B MELEREBRRERA
AEE G 2 3o B3R o BE R FIE14,282,0005% 7T
ERRERBEARBLE T AERGEE -

RZZE—AFHANA ARAHHIfE 3 RETHE
5,833 % 1 94,166 IR B 15 T B # Fl 2 = R B E IR E %
BERAR(—HMAMNERRERF Z AR K
BEESERARRIKB AR ZREES -

I - 5 A E 2 #4824 #23,902,0005% JT 36 BT 48 BE
ZHEEBRERAREEREZEAEBLARR
ARXBMBETZBRAEEZ ZF - KR A HMHE
N 7 2 48 B 7N 4,300,00058 ST A A E B EH TR
WEHHEEZERNGEE -

KiaE2 -

BRHREARKMB((FE]DMHEBERRE QD
AIRFEKIRELENHNE AR ABEREFRR
2R E B ROE AR E T BB 1R E BB 10% A
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50% AR T EESERNRERTEEADIREKE
AT  AERHESITRRERBETEEEE(W
) WrBBEMEARGRELFIRAME AZET
HINEAERATWRER HZBRENSHTE
R & R E25% ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BZE-Z-_=FMNA=1+HILFE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E -
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
o &t FHET F& T
Operating activities )
Profit/(loss) before tax B A E AL (E548) 2,496 (2,297)
Adjustments for: AT EIBEEFE :
Finance costs b & B AN 96 525
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - -BENZEITE 63 1,149
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE = 388
Impairment loss on property, ERERME  BE KK
plant and equipment recognised R EEE 466 =
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ERRACAEEERE
recognised &8 = 308
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEKEBE
plant and equipment Z (W), BB F 5 (107) 5
Interest income FE A (305) (49)
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair value RAFEFABENS
through profit or loss MEEZAFEERE = 313
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR Z WK - (3,743)
Gain on early termination of leases RAIAXIETRE 2 s = (847)
Allowance for write-down of inventories recognised B RO T E BB 375 3,372
Operating cash flows before movements EEESEFHAMLE
in working capital RehE 3,084 876)
Decrease in inventories FERD 3,389 3,097
(Increase)/decrease in rental deposits, trade HEZRe BWESHHE -
receivables, other receivables and prepayments H 4th fE U FR A K TE A OB
(3 ), m > (4,355) 69,893
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 K E b FE AT FIAE N,
(R ) 41,898 (9,7083)
Cash generated from operations eSS 44,016 62,411
Interest received R EIESN 305 49
Income tax paid B FTis (5,864) (3,439)
Net cash from operating activities K EEFTS IR F R 38,457 59,025
Investing activities REEE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME BELKZE (508) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  BEKKE
plant and equipment Fr 1S 3K R 107 -
Redemption of financial asset at fair value through ~ f& B2 A FE A8 2
profit or loss TREE 3,684 —
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBARFENRIE 35 - 8,588
Net cash from investing activities KEEHMSRESFHE 3,283 8,588
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

ma

ReRhEx (&)

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—ZE—_=FmMA=1+HILFE

2023 2022
—E_-= = —
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FAT
Financing activities g 5E £
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EBEEHEEaENA2H D (860) 6,187)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEENE (65) (223)
Repayment of bank loan EEBRITERIE (4,000) (6,194)
Increase in amount due to ultimate holding AR ER AT RIE
company byl 10,370 8,600
Interest paid on borrowings EEDREESSS (31) (302)
Increase in amount due to a director FEAS —FE BT B A )
of a subsidiary — B ESFHIFE N = 5,800
Net cash from financing activities REEESREFRE 5,414 1,494
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re A EFEYHILEINFE 47,154 69,107
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SN [ 2R 5 B 2 & (3,423) 61)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of FUNRERBECEED
the year 82,459 13,413
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, FRARNBESRIREEED
represented by bank balances and cash (BN : |RITEHRRS) 126,190 82,459
E-ERERERAA —EBE-=F%#% /O



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRERNE

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BZE-Z-_=FMNA=1+HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its
issued shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate and
ultimate holding company of the Company is Prosper One Enterprises
Limited and its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Meng Guangyin, who is
also the chairman of the Board of Directors and the chief executive
officer of the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the “Group”)
are the retail and wholesale of watches in Hong Kong, and acting as
agent (for financial reporting purposes) in the sales and trading of
fertilisers raw materials, fertilisers and other related products. The
address of the principal place of business of the Company was Room
1403, 14/F., Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

a. Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 May 2022 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current year and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR M A (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. ERAHFIREETEEBE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BBEER(FEBBER
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continued) A8 ) @)

b. New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue b. EEMEREKRENRZH

but not yet effective AEAMBEHREERR
(EEARS

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to REBVWERZEGAVBEREATIER

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these FER T CEEMEBEEMAERZFZET B

consolidated financial statements. B 75 3R &5 X Bl R (B ] 7N o

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
REFHERZ#%

IR AR & &

. HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts (including the October 2020 and February 1 January 2023
2022 Amendments to HKFRS17) —FT-_=%—H—H
BEEMBREENFITRARBEEN(BE_S_SFTARZZE__F=-AK
BRI BREERIE7H (BETA))

. Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution To be determined
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture I
BEEMBREENFI0RRBEASGHERNFE28F (BTN REE K
HABENR A e S X EELHESX N E

. Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
ERUMBREERE6HE (BN EREMBMNHERE —E_ME—-A—H

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current 1 January 2024
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) —E_HFE—-—H—H
BB ENEIRUBI RN BESERRBELIETE UL
EBREESE BB A (ZE_FF)

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
BB ENFIRUBITRMFZENIERD AR —E-_MmME—-—H—H

° Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, 1 January 2023
Disclosure of Accounting Policies —E-=F—H—H
BB ENFIRREBUBEREREANELRE
F25 (BRI R) Bat LR K E

. Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BB EAESR BRI N) B B2 TEE —E-_=%—H—H

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2023
arising from a Single Transaction —E-=F—H—H
BB ENF12R (BN HE— X GHEFEERBEFHELEHE

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new KNG EESTEHERMBEFHIET BB

and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the RELEB REET AR RE RS T2

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. ITEBBRREREALE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
“Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described asfollows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a product or service
to the customer at the amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled under that performance obligation,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time. HKFRS 15
identifies the following three situations in which control of the promised
good or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

(i) When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance, as the Group

performs;

(i) When the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;
or

@iy When the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the Group’s activities do not fall into any of
these three situations, then under HKFRS 15 the Group recognises
revenue for the sale of that good or service at a point in time, being
when control has passed.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services
to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange
for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(a) Sale of merchandise
Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised at a point in
time when control of the products is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the products.

(b) Trading of fertilisers raw materials, fertilisers and

other related products (the “fertilisers and other
products”)
The Group determines that the nature of its promise is to arrange
for the fertilisers and other products to be provided by the
suppliers to the customers and hence, for financial reporting
purposes under HKFRS 15, the Group is an agent not a principal.
Commission income is recognised at a point in time when the
services are rendered.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

(c) Service income on repairing watches
The Group provides repair services on watches to customers,
which is a single performance obligation. The service income is
recognised at a point in time when the service is completed.

(d) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of
financial position at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “Other
gains and losses”.

E-EEBRERBRLA

BERXEFHBER @

Yy = 7 &R )

FEHRE @

(c) MER#AEME 2 BRI WA
AEBAESIREREEERS -
HAE—BHEE - BEUARR
e 2 B B R o

d) FEWA
MBWMAREBHELERABRF
KA BBARAKERTARER
FHyBEAEMEER) WG &
ARAZRABRESREEN
FREDFEZ LR T IARER

RIEBLRWRE

WU B A T A () AR AR R &
REBERAD A BRREAE -

BAT 8 BY

BR#EB A THIAR EEFAEK
7 3 BN R S 08 T M A R AT e S IR
ER 4 Bf

EREELARXIBREZBEIMAE
EREEENBEY O EBEBERK
%) T A YR R W A AR 2 BRAF B - T
MREZ AT WE Z IR B R -
ZEMPR[EMKERERIZ5 -

—E2-=f%% 83



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Lease

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception or
modification date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted for on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effects on the consolidated financial statements would not
differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of various offices, warehouses, equipment and vehicles that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it
is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—ZE—_=FmMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date.

The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease term
has changed.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedients, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for
the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally

due on or before 30 June 2022; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

COVID-19-related rent concessions (Continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease
payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it would
account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are
accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities
are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Hot
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for staff in Hong
Kong and state-managed retirement benefit schemes for staff in the
PRC are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit/(loss) before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to
the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including tangible assets that are held
for use in the supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
disposal or retirement of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
of inventories are determined on the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and
measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Impairment on tangible assets and right-of-use
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment on tangible assets and right-of-use
assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”), and FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition”.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at FVOCI (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at FVOCI if both of the following
conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt investments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at FVPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at FVPL, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at FVPL on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at FVOCI. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at FVPL are also recognised
as other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—ZE—_=FmMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for the “expected credit loss” (‘ECL”)
for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B TS R 2R B EE (

&
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised cost are
subject to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not

Stage2 —

credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-

Stage3 —

impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, bank loan and
amount due to ultimate holding company) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at
FVOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent considerations for
trading of fertilisers and other products

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or as an agent,
for financial reporting purposes, in the sales of goods requires exercise
of judgement and consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances.
In the evaluation of whether the Group is acting as a principal or an
agent, the Group noted that it does not obtain control of the fertilisers
and other products from the suppliers before passing on to customers.
The Group also considers, individually and in combination, whether the
Group is primarily responsible for fulfiling the promise to provide the
fertilisers and other products, is subject to inventory risk and has
discretion in establishing prices for the goods. Significant judgement is
required when making these considerations. Having considered the
relevant facts and circumstances, management considers that the
Group does not obtain control in respect of the trading activities
involving the fertilisers and other products. Accordingly, the Group
considers that for financial reporting purposes, it is acting as an agent
for sale and trading of fertilisers and other products and the
corresponding revenue is presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z - =FMA=1+HILtFEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4., ERESTHEREFTAE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EMNEERIR @

U NCERTA' NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful lives and residual values and impairment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
Group will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or will write off or write down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
The Group tests annually whether its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets have suffered any impairment in accordance
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with the Group’s accounting policies. The assets are reviewed for LEHEINREAREESECESEER
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that B - MEESHHBEREGHEREENE
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The HEBRETKO£E  AleHEEE

recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is determined
based on value in use calculations which require the use of
assumptions and estimates.

As at 30 April 2023, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are HK$99,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$466,000 (2022: HK$126,000 (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$1,170,000)), and HK$nil (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$308,000) (2022: HK$nil (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$6,027,000)) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—ZE—_=FmMA=1+HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. B S HE R THE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION EMNEERE@
UNCERTA'NTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) H T EEMENEERR @)
Net realisable value of inventories FEAEBEFEE
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the FEAMERFEA—MEKBEESTH
ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses. These et tEEBR MG HER Y &M
estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical SERER TR REUYEEE &S
experience of seling products of similar nature. It could change ERBTELS iR ETSEBREE .
significantly in response to change in market trends, customer tastes EERREBLRERIRIENE B M A
and business environment. The Group will reassess the estimations by B REEBERREHREFHT
the end of the reporting period. As at 30 April 2023, the carrying HZERKiT RZE_=FW A=+
amount of inventories was HK$1,586,000 (net of allowance for write- B FE®KMEIER,586000% T (&
down of HK$10,251,000) (2022: HK$5,350,000 (net of allowance for 30 B R B 85 10,251,0008 L) (= ZF =
write-down of HK$12,504,000)). Z £ : 5,350,000 7T (45 40 B #UR B
12,504,000 7)) °
REVENUE 5. &=
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, all of which were recognised from REBEANANEAMIERELELF155
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 is as follows: HBEAZWRZ(FTEKREIELARREAY
RO :
2023 2022
—E_=F —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
TE R FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEEE LA W
Sales of merchandise EmiEE 7,152 43,233
Service income PR 75 WA 9 474
Commission income Az WA 34,349 31,562
41,510 75,269
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. qﬂé(%g)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised
below:

Sales of merchandise

The performance obligation is recognised at a point in time when
control of the products is transferred to the customer, being at the
point the customer purchases the goods at the store or on delivery of
the merchandise for wholesale segment. Payment of the transaction
price is due immediately and within 90 days at the point the customer
purchases the products under the retail and wholesale segments,
respectively.

Service income

The Group provides services on repairing watches to customers. The
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time when the service is
completed and advance payments are normally required before
rendering the services. The Group’s enforceable right to the payment is
subject to the completion of the whole services. The services are for
periods less than one year.

Commission income

The performance obligation is completed at a point in time when the
services on arranging trading of fertiliser and other related products are
completed. Payment is generally in advance from the customers before
the agency services are provided.

All the contracts in relation to trading of fertilisers are for original
expected duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations of the
Group that were unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied as at the end of the
reporting periods in relation to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

104 Prosper One International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023

RKEEFEHNH WS

EMASERORGHEAN QB E
W

ERCE A
BOBEBREROEHENBSG
(BNEFPREHEEERS RN
BRABERES)BHER - EFH B
ERHBESBBEELHR RHE
FE90K P9 B BN B HA A8 1+ -

i

e
oF S B

o

@ WD R

AR %5 WL A
AEERAEFPIEUEECRERY - B
& 15N IR 5 72 A B 22 AR B 4R AR 75 A
BEARENR  REERBTRER
R A 0E S BRI AT - RIBHE T B
_io

HEWA
BOBBREHEHRAGABERZ
RPMBTEREMATAR - RIBHAD
REAMESBHERXM -

FEEEERMGLOREBHBRA—
AT - BB ISR R E 155
Frth BZZEARTANEHAES
7K B R BUE R R 0k R AT
BRBEMEOEBENR 5 ER K
B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
8 B 3% 3Rk Y aE ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEHER

Information reported to the Group’s executive directors, who are the REEHTEFAAEETELLE AR

chief operating decision makers (the “CODM”) of the Group, for the E(XELERFEE]) RMEREHAE

purposes of resource allocation and assessment of performance, are BRIEMKRRITIEHEZERERFNAE

focused on three main operations of the Group identified in accordance CIHEHEEEBMEE RS HEmMER

with the business nature and the size of the operations. CEZEEK -

Specifically, the reportable and operating segments of the Group under BEEms RBESEHBHEEIES

HKFRS 8 are as follows: B AEBEZAZ2BRRLEEDFAT

O Retail business of watches (“‘Retail”) — retail of multi brands of o BEZEE£K([BE])— REAEAS
watches in Hong Kong EZEmhe 2 Bk

. Wholesale business of watches (“Wholesale”) — wholesale of . R ER (T2 — REBH
multi brands of watches in Hong Kong L ERE 2 Rk

. Trading of fertilisers and other related products (“Trading”) — . R EEMEEAER2E S (E
provision of agency services in relation to trading of fertilisers and S REEAENKEMIERE
other related products m 2 8 5 8RR IR 15

There are no significant sales or other transactions among the A zELTEERNHEEREMIS &

segments, except as disclosed below. LA T # B8 & BR AN o

=-ERERERAT —z-—=££% 105



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment for the two years:

For the year ended 30 April 2023

7 EE R @

oMM ERFE

AEERMEFERNRLLERATZHD
MEDZWEREEDTWT :

BEZE-_E_=FNA=1+HILEE

Retail Wholesale Trading  Elimination Total
€ #Ht 2 =) Ef wEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET THExT FTEx FHEx
Revenue W &
External sales N EB 8 E 5,942 1,210 - - 7,152
External service income 4N 2B AR 75 Ut A 5 4 = = 9
External commission SNER AR & WA
income - - 34,349 - 34,349
Inter-segment sales DEEHEE - 256 - (256) -
5,947 1,470 34,349 (256) 41,510
Segment (loss)/profit o &6 (&5 18) i 7 (5,777) 316 20,587 - 15,126
Finance costs RN (96)
Unallocated group AOREERT
expenses (12,534)
Profit before tax B £ A & 18 2,496
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7EHERmW

DEW R EE @)
BE-—S--—GEmMA=tALEE

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 30 April 2022

Retail Wholesale Trading Elimination Total
TE il 25 Eg! HET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET FHET
Revenue W &=
External sales S 2B 85 & 41,580 1,653 - - 43,233
External service income  9h EB AR 75 U A 474 — _ _ 474
External commission ANER A & U A
income = = 31,562 = 31,562
Inter-segment sales o EbfEHE 71 206 — (277) —
42,125 1,859 31,562 (277) 75,269
Segment (loss)/profit D (E518), % F (13,302) 807 15,832 = 3,337
Finance costs & B (525)
Unallocated gain on HE—FHBARF
disposal of a subsidiary 2 & % Bt 4g &5 3,743
Unallocated group AOoBEEERX
expenses (8,852)
Loss before tax % B AT E 18 (2,297)

Sales between segments are carried out on terms mutually agreed
between the parties involved in the transactions. The revenue from
external parties reported to the executive directors is measured in a
manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment (loss)/profit
represents the loss from/profit earned by each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments, gain
on disposal of a subsidiary and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

E-EEBRERBRLA

DEREBEENRIRR S 2% 77 LR H
EZAGRRET - AMTEEERZINE
AT REREGEEREREMEER
SR -BZITAAE-

Ry BB E & AT BOR B EES AT A 2 AN
SEEHERAR - 2 HB(ER) 8 F
BEDBAEENER/FIRNO R
M - ERPYESEFRTRER EF
e HE-—HMNBRRAZREREE
AU TIMERLERRERERD
FERDBRAFGEMEZHRZAET L -

w7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

No segment assets and liabilities information is provided as no such
information is regularly provided to the CODM of the Group for the
purpose of making decision for resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Geographical information

During the year, the Group’s operation is mainly located in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group’s revenue by geographical location of
customers, based on location of delivery of the watches or services, is
detailed below:

7 EE R @

DEW R EE @
DEEME N IRB TS ERTE -

CES S e EE P
RUSHAERAEEN  AEEL A
BHRRERTERE K TREE M
A

i 32 & K

REFE FAEBZEBIBLRGH
RES  AEERES IR E (AR
S 5 IR 7 9 32 A 4 B) B 9> 2 U 2k B 1
mF -

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

THET FAET

PRC =8 34,349 31,562
Hong Kong BB 7,161 43,707
Total #ct 41,510 75,269

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers in the PRC and
Hong Kong. There are no single external customers who contributed
more than 10% of total revenue of the Group for both years.

The information of the Group’s non-current assets excluding deferred
tax assets and financial assets by geographical location is detailed

AEEZHEEETZRETERFEZR
F-MEFEARNLEE—IRBRSAB
FRIA AR E AW E A 10% °

AEERWBUEE D Z2ERBDEE
(TEREEHEEERSREE)FE

below: m

2023 2022
—_E;-=F —ET=-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
PRC H 99 122
Hong Kong B - 4
Total @t 99 126
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7EER @
Other disclosures Hiig T
For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE-_Z-_=FWNA=1+HLEE
Unallocated
Group
Retail Wholesale Trading expenses Total
KA E
ZzE 8 B £EBEX st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Addition to non-current R E IER BB BE
assets - 508 - - 508
Depreciation of property, 1% - & & & &
plant and equipment 7 & - 45 18 - 63
Gain on disposal of HEME  BE K
property, plant and B2 W=
equipment 107 - - - 107
Government grants IR S 4 B 272 = 7 159 502
Allowance for write- ERRMATEE 2
down of inventories B s
recognised 289 86 - - 375
Impairment loss on W - BB KEE
property, plant and BIEEE
equipment - 466 - - 466
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
n 6 B3 Rk Y &t ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. D EEE @
Other disclosures (continued) H i 3% B ()
For the year ended 30 April 2022 BE-ZE-__FWA=1+HLEE
Unallocated
Group
Retail Wholesale Trading expenses Total
RO BL
€ il =& SERX Bt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET TET TET TR THET

Depreciation of property, ¥ 2% - &= L& &

plant and equipment e 1,130 — 19 — 1,149
Depreciation of right-of- {f FAEE E T &

use assets 388 — — — 388
Loss on disposal of HEME  BE K

property, plant and R EE

equipment 5) — = = (6)
Rent concessions HeEE 199 = — — 199
Government grants BUS #8 B = = 861 = 861
Allowance for write- EERMARTFEEZ

down of inventories B

recognised 3,220 152 — — 3,372
Impairment loss on FREEERE

right-of-use assets B8 308 — _ _ 308
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
8 B 3% 3Rk Y aE ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Hinlwzm R E 18
2023 2022
—E-=F —_EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Rent concessions (note (a)) HeER(WiF@E) - 199
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain BE 3 (&518) Wz % 58 (66) 30
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEWME BERIEBE W
plant and equipment (E18) 55 107 (5)
Interest income F B YA 305 49
Sundry income H b g A 8 2
Gain on early termination of leases RATRIEHE 2 W - 847
Government grants (note (b)) RS 18 Bh (B 2% (b)) 502 861
Fair value loss on financial asset at FVPL EAFEFAEZNESREEZ
NEEEE - (313)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) HE—FHEB ARz Was
(K1 7£35) - 3,743
856 5,413
Notes: Bt
@) No rent concession was received by the Group (2022: HK$199,000) in (@) AREFBTEWRESEER( T - =
respect of rental periods that fell in the financial year ended 30 April 2023. F:199,000 L) FRBE_T ==

FOA=TRLMBRFENELD -

()  The government grants represent financial subsidies for compensating b)) BEEHEHEZEENILHETHE

expenses already incurred or giving immediate financial support to the IR AEEREEEZENB X FHITK
Group. There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies in relation to B o A FE R B) I R E R IR 1 sl sk
the grants and the grants were determined at the sole discretion of ERE MEITHETRERESRBK
relevant government authorities in the PRC and Hong Kong. HEREREIBRE -
Government grant income recognised in the current year includes an RAEEBRAZBFHEBEKARESR
amount of HK$431,000 (2022: HK$nil) in respect of COVID-19-related 4 COVID-1948 8 #3 Bh #Y 5% 78 431,00078
subsidies, which relate to Employment Support Scheme provided by the T(ZEZZF :THx) ZNEES
Hong Kong government. BHRRENRBEETEERA -
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. W&
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAT
Interest on bank loan RITERF B 31 302
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERES 65 223
96 525
9. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 9. BRBLATRER (EH)
2023 2022
—_E-=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Profit/(loss) before tax has been arrived at after & %4 5l & #1, /(& 18) JTh A
charging: HMBRUATHIEESEBE :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment - BELEZETE 63 1,149
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE - 388
Auditor’s remuneration % BB 5 BN 900 900
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment ¥ % - & & K & & B (B &5 18 466 —
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets recognised = e RF A fE & E R E B 18 - 308
Freight costs BB 5,840 6,735
Short-term lease expenses EHEERY 864 4,565
Directors’ remuneration (note 12) EEEM(HE12) 9,727 5,491
Other staff HEMBET
— Salaries and wages —HehkIHE 9,856 16,381
— Other employee benefits —HiEB8EF 28 242
— Retirement benefit scheme contribution of —HME T ZRAKBFE
other staff T 788 1,019
Total staff costs B TR AN4B %8 20,399 23,133
Allowance for write-down of inventories REEERANER MR T ERE
recognised in cost of sales 375 3,372
Carrying amount of inventories sold recognised as R AR 2 EEFEZREE
expense 4,630 31,275
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FREBiFA

2023 2022
—EBE-=5F T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAT
Current taxation B AR 5 18

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEABNEH = -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT”) REMEMGSHR(CEREH]) 5,184 3,895
5,184 3,895

(Over)/under provision for prior years BEFEE(RRARE),  BETR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BANEH (88) —
PRC EIT PRGN 57 112
(31) 112
Deferred taxation (note 17) BEFRIE (Kt 17) = 142
5,153 4,149

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong, the first
HK$2 million taxable profit of the qualifying corporation of the Group is
taxed at 8.25%, and taxable profits above HK$2 million are taxed at
16.5%. The directors considered the amount involved from the
application of the two-tiered profits tax rates as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Other subsidiaries in Hong Kong are
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5%.

For the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022, no provision for taxation
in Hong Kong was made as the subsidiaries in Hong Kong incurred tax
loss during the years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries was
25% for both years.

E-EEBRERBRLA

REFBEMNEGHMAS AKEAER
EEE2E BB TR RUE M 5 128.25%
MG - MEBE2EBETTHERM
A IZ165%MN TR M - EERR
B e F 1S B AR IR BT M) & BB B AR
EHMBHRRIFZEEM -BEEMBKE
REIRIR16.5%M B RBREFEFNEH -

HEZZ-_=FR-ZF-__FWA=+
ALEEE HRESMNBRAGINREEE
EEABEEBE RTEREBHAE
oA o

RETEHCEMEREZ(EEREB
B REEMEBEERE - M EF
B2 BB RRZHER25%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. Fr 58 B 2 ()

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

AEEHEXETRGAERREM
PEBEERZ B BAER(58) HE
m -

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax BELRE R (B518) 2,496 (2,297)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% TR TS T E16.5% T B 2 B 1H
(2022: 16.5%) (note) (ZZF =% :16.5%) (A &E) 412 379)
Tax effects of: LATEBEZBBE
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ANaMF A 2,110 2,348
Income not taxable for tax purposes AR BA (434) (837)
Tax losses not recognised RIERHIBEE 1,782 3,218
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI ARERCRIBEESIE
recognised = (118)
Utilisation of deductible temporary difference &) FA 5% Bl R W 32 2 AT 0 R D
previously not recognised MR (441) (1,546)
(Over)/under provision for prior years BAFE (BERE) BETR (31) 112
Different tax rate of subsidiaries M8 ARl 2 N REF R 1,755 1,351
Income tax expense Fri8fim X 5,153 4,149

Note: The domestic tax rate, which is the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate, in the
jurisdiction where the operations of the Group are substantially based is
used.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of taxable temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB45,855,000 (2022: RMB33,888,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

11. DIVIDENDS 11. KB

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary shareholders BE T =K -_ZT-_—FWPA=+

of the Company during the years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022, nor HIEFE  TERAR G L®ERREIR

has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting year. ft  ERKBHRMNETMKE  BRE
FRMEZZRNEMKE -

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

12EERFETHRAEMS

REBEERLETRARCRBEIDEEZ
FREERTETHAEHMEWT

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance, is

as follows:
Employer’s contribution
Name of director EEHg Fees Salaries Discretionary bonus to pension scheme Total
e e MR EEXRRSTHER @zt
HK$'000 TAR 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“82-cE _T__4f ZB-=fF _Z__f ZBC-ZE _T__% ZB-=f _ZT__f CZBIZE _T__f
Executive Directors: HITEE:
Meng Guangyin (note) % B 3R (H/32) 4,800 - 4,200 4,800 = 18 18 9,018 4818
Liu Guoging 3EE - - 250 250 - 13 13 263 263
Liu Jiagiang EINIE: = - 179 185 - 21 12 200 197
Li Dong Po FRE - - 54 21 - - - 54 21
Independent BUFEHITEE :
Non-Executive
Directors:
Tian Zhiyuan AsE 96 % - - - - - 9% %
Lee Chun Keung TER 48 48 - = = = 48 18
Wang Luping I&F 48 48 - - - - 48 48
Total @it 4,992 192 4,683 5,256 - 52 43 9,727 5,491

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive officer waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 30 April 2023 and 2022.

Note: Mr. Meng Guangyin is the chairman of the board and the chief executive
officer of the Company.

E-EEBRERBRLA

EXFATRATESEZMEIRERER
ARAEBEHREEERB 2ME -

EXRBIATEZT MRS
HERRREEZZME -

BE-_Z-_=FK_-_T_—_FWA=+
ALtEE MEZEEHTHEAHBEMT
AZEEREXRERETME -

Mt REREERARAERTEEFRT
A E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
n 6 B3 Rk Y &t ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13. AEEaFMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included FR AEEBNAEETMNEES R
two directors (2022: one), details of whose remuneration are set out in HEREESE(ZE-__F: —ZESH) -
note 12 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining EBRHEGH 2B H N L XX iE12 H
three (2022: four) highest paid employees who are neither a director MEZ (B —F: OLZ)BRIEEE N
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: ERRNBETEBETHRAENZSTHES

RAFREZHEMFBOT

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHET
Salaries, other allowances and benefits e HMEMEREDZ=
in kind 4,065 7,682
Discretionary bonus IFIEAT - 3
Retirement benefit costs IR RAE F B A
— Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme —BHEATEL TS 47 72
4,112 7,757
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of WIARARESMEFHME T EE 2
the Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands: AR = EES AS:
Number
AE
2023 2022
—g—-= —E -
Nil - HK$1,000,000 = - 1,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& 7t — 1,500,000 T = 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 % 7T — 3,500,0007% 7T 1 =
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7 7T — 5,500,000 7T = 1
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the AEBFALERNARNRAAESTHIAEE
directors of the Company or the chief executive of the Group or the five FEBTHRAEBXRAEZRESHMA LTI
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Bl & - 1E & 00 B AN & B 5k hn B K & [E
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2022: nil). WRSIIERBEBRBEE(ZZ ==
;) o
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8 B 3% 3Rk Y aE ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BRE B
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to AKATRHEEAEBESRERN B EEIE
the owners of the Company is based on the following data: TR A T &gt &
2023 2022
—EBC-=fF —EZZF
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AAEAE AEEFEER
the Company (HK$’000) (F#&T) (2,657) (6,446)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B 277 T B AR I AE 5 &
in issue 800,000,000 800,000,000
Basic and diluted loss per share A% A & S B 18
(HK cents per share) (ZRB ) (0.33) (©.81)
No adjustments have been made in calculating diluted loss per share ARARBEEEANTEEMERETELEE
for both years as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for B NGERBEEEZ2EGRESER
both years. P S E AR EE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
n 6 B3 Rk Y &t ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ -HERZE

Motor
Leasehold Furniture Office vehicles
improvements and fixtures equipment and yacht Total
HEWEHE HEAREE BLERE REREER MEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT THT THET FAT
COST 5N
At 1 May 2021 R_FE-_—FAHF—H 9,399 475 677 14,106 24,657
Additions NE (5,215) (10) (20) = (5,245)
Disposals HE = = = (13,300) (13,300)
Write-off 88 (751) — 37) — (788)
Exchange realignment AN EE F B — — — ) @)
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-_—_FNMA=+H 3,433 465 620 804 5,322
Additions NE — — 3 505 508
Disposals k= (2,575) ) (24) (755) (3,355)
Exchange realignment HNEE A2 — — — 9 9)
At 30 April 2023 R-ZB-=FmA=1+H 858 464 599 545 2,466
DEPRECIATION AND WERBE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 May 2021 R—_ZE-_—FHAHF—H 9,365 463 633 6,264 16,725
Provided for the year (note () = X #4& (K17 (a)) 34 12 35 1,068 1,149
Eliminated on disposals P& (5,215) (10) (15) — (5,240)
Eliminated on write-off AT 5 B 4 8 — — — (6,650) (6,650)
Exchange realignment HNEE S EE (751) = 37) = (788)
At 30 April 2022 R-_ZE-_—_FMA=+H 3,433 465 616 682 5,196
Provided for the year (note () 4 W% & (K7 7% (a) - - 4 59 63
Impairment loss recognised & & 24 B 5 18
(note (b)) (K1 &) - = 3 463 466
Eliminated on disposals A E B (2,575) 1) (24) (755) (3,355)
Exchange realignment AN IE F B — — — ) @)
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMA=1+H 858 464 599 446 2,367
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA=+H = = - 99 99
At 30 April 2022 R-_ZE-_—FWmWA=+H — — 4 122 126
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated, taking
into account their residual values, on a straight-line basis as follows:

Leasehold improvements Lease terms of 2 to 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles and yacht 5 years

As at the end of the reporting period, the directors of the Company have
conducted impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment which are used in the Group’s
wholesale business of watches, in view of the continuous unfavorable
operating results from that business. The management estimated the
recoverable amount of the wholesale business, representing an individual
cash-generating unit, to which the assets belonged. The recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit has been determined based on value
in use calculations. The discount rate in measuring the amount of value in
use was 12%.

Based on the results of the impairment assessments, the management
estimated that the wholesale business would not generate positive net
cash inflows in the future and hence the recoverable amounts of the
relevant property, plant and equipment belonging to the wholesale
business were insignificant. Accordingly, impairment losses of
HK$466,000 have been recognised on property, plant and equipment for
the year ended 30 April 2023 and included in “administrative expenses”.

Wiz :

E-EEBRERBRLA

15. % BERRE®=

Lz BERREBEB TR RE
HEER  BREREHTEWT

HEMEEE HEAR2ESF
FEARKE 5%
MREHRE 34
T R 5

RIREHR - ZEB PRI B XZHLE
RERBRE KARAREFHANEE
BRI BEERNYE BEERFEZ
A B e B TTRER o B IR E A
HEREB(RXEBEEMBEN —EE
BREELABWMAKEEE -RE
EXBEM A NESBEIIREERE
BtEHEE FEERAEESENR
E[12% o

ERBETEER  BEEMGTAK
BEBITCELTERSAANFHE K
BRAMBER ZEEDE  BERZE
ZAIKESETREKN AL - REBEE
—E_=FNA=Z1+TAHILEFE B¥ER
Y ¥ - BB &R R (B & 18 466,000 74
TR TTTE LA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
n 6 B3 Rk Y &t ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. E A EEE

Land and
buildings
TR EF
HK$’000
FHET
coST R
At 1 May 2021 R-—E-_—FHA—H 27,594
Additions NE 361
Write-off (note (a)) W38 (K73 (a) (19,971)
At 30 April 2022 R-_ZT-_—_FMWA=+H 7,984
Write-off (note (a)) W sE (Kt (a) (7,624)
At 30 April 2023 R-E-_=FMA=+H 360
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT WERARE
At 1 May 2021 R-_E-_—FHRHA—H 26,995
Provided for the year F R 388
Impairment loss recognised (note (b)) B R B BB (M b)) 308
Write-off (note (a)) Wss (B 52 (@) (19,707)
At 30 April 2022 R-ZE-_—_FMWA=+H 7,984
Write-off (note (a)) s (K 2t (a) (7,624)
At 30 April 2023 R-E-_=FMA=+H 360

CARRYING VALUES
At 30 April 2023

AREE
R-ZB-=FMA=+H

At 30 April 2022

R-ZE-_—_FWMA=+H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
8 B 3% 3Rk Y aE ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Right-of-use assets are written off upon termination of the leases at the
end of the lease term.

As at 30 April 2022, the directors of the Company have conducted
impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of the Group’s right-of-
use assets which are used in the Group’s retail business of watches, in
view of the continuous unfavorable operating results from that business.
The Group’s retail business had been adversely impacted by the outbreak
of COVID-19 pandemic since January 2020. The management estimated
the recoverable amount of each of the retail outlets, each representing an
individual cash-generating unit, to which the assets belonged. The
recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units have been determined
based on value in use calculations. The discount rate in measuring the
amount of value in use was 12%.

Based on the results of the impairment assessments, the management
estimated that most of the retail outlets would not generate positive net
cash inflows in the future and hence the recoverable amounts of each of
the cash-generating units, and the relevant right-of-use assets belonging
to these retail outlets, were insignificant. Accordingly, impairment losses
of HK$308,000 have been recognised on right-of-use assets for the year
ended 30 April 2022 and included in “selling and distribution costs”.

16. FAREEE @

Hf et

(@

ERAREEERNEHERRKLEER
s -

RIB-_—FWB=1H ARAESE
HEARAEERZETEELNERRE
BEZAIWEIRIEBEET T REFG - =
T — T4 — A ECOVID-195% 15 ) /& &
HASBNTEEBELET THZE -
EEEBGRATEHNEEEAN T KA
B SERREEMBHERESE
A -BeELBEMZAWRB ST
RIEFEAEEAEET - TEFEAEE
SRR ER12% o

HERBEGER  EREMTARKK
BOTEEMTEELEEARER
FERAURREELEBMRBRZ
ELEEMABERBEEZ AR
BRI TEN- Bt REE_F—
“FNA=THLFE CHREHE
& E R (BB 308,000/ ST R[5 E
K SR A AR -

2023 2022
—Eg-= P S —

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET F& T

Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEERAMNAX 864 4,565
Variable lease payments not included in Rt AHEB B =EZ

the measurement of lease liabilities (note) A A E N R (KT = 241

Lease expenses for the year FRAHEEAX 864 4,806

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilites EEHEAGBE 2 ANEHH 860 6,187

Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEENE 65 223

Total cash outflow for leases for the year FAHERSRLEBE 1,789 11,216

Note:

Leases of retail stores contain the term of minimum monthly lease
payment that are fixed over the lease term and variable lease payment
that are based on certain percentage of sales of the retail stores if the
variable lease payment exceeds the minimum rent.

et

E-EEBRERBRLA

TEEH I ASEAEREHRAE
S A RIERENRIER - TORT
SREFRBESERS - A BERE
FEEHNBERETHLEE LT
SHREHK -

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 16. FFHEEE @)

For the year ended 30 April 2023, the Group leases various staff
quarters, office, warehouse and retail stores for its operations. Lease
contracts to which the Group’s right-of-use assets relate are entered
into for fixed terms of 2 years (2022: between 2 to 3 years) and without
extension and termination options.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the leases.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group has no commitment in respect of short-
term leases. The short-term lease expense incurred during the year
amounted to HK$864,000 (2022: HK$4,565,000). As the outbreak of
the fifth wave of COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong dampened
consumption sentiment and had a severe adverse impact on the sales
of retail shops, the Group responded to the changes in economic
environment by adjusting its retail strategy by operating its retail
business with short-term leases.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group does not provide residual value
guarantees in relation to leases arrangements. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group has no leases that are committed but
not yet commenced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTlNUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—ZE—_=FmMA=1+HILFE

17. DEFERRED TAXATION i 3E B 18

TRENNAFERBEFERA L E
DEEHIBEE (B RAED:

17.

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

Accelerated tax

Provision depreciation Tax losses Total

B IEBRERTE HiEEE st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET FET

At 1 May 2021 E@:%ﬁ:*iﬂﬂ —H 237 (613) 755 379

Credited/(charged) to RIEZE A (%

profit or loss — 613 (755) (142)
At 30 April 2022, 1 May 2022 R=—ZE-——&#pmA=+H
and 30 April 2023 B _FRAA—HK

ZZEZ=FMA=1H 237 — — 237

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$153,427,000 (2022: HK$142,627,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$9,000
(2022: HK$2,000) that will expire in next five years ending in 2027 (2022:
2026). Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences, mainly related to impairment and depreciation of
right-of use assets and property, plant and equipment, and accrued
expenses for audit and other service fees, of approximately
HK$1,400,000 (2022: HK$4,071,000), of which deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of HK$950,000 (2022: HK$950,000) of
these temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to the remaining deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

=
= —
==}

RBEHR AEE T ARENRR S
F 2 A B F3 4 I8 /&5 18 4 B 153,427,00078
TT(ZF = — £ :142,627,0008 7T ) ° 2
REETERAB®EFR WL ERHBT
MEGERREEMBEE KREE
T tEFIERKRARAERE(ZE ==
£ 2T RNF) D ERE 89,000 T
(ZZE =4 :200087T) Bt A RTER
HIEEE HEBEILNERALE -

PR 45 BB R - ZN 5 B A9 H ftb AT 30050 B
MEB(TZHRFRAEEE - WE- B
EREHEAREFEZAI REARY
BRBRBERITEAFB) 4 A1,400,000
B ( ZF = = F : 4,071,000 7T )
Hih G g4 Z%0950,0008 (==
Z Z4F : 950,000 7T ) FE R A I IE B 18
BE - AR A A8 B FE R T m A UK
SH AT H0 R B 1 R EE 0 BN AR T SR ER AR
™R HOR R E SRR B B R E B 1A
BE-

BRERERAT -T2 123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BZE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

18. INVENTORIES 18. # &
2023 2022
—E-=F —_EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Merchandise for resale HEEm 1,586 5,350

As at 30 April 2023, the gross carrying amount of inventories was
HK$11,837,000 (2022: HK$17,854,000) and allowance for write-down
of inventories was HK$10,251,000 (2022: HK$12,504,000).

R—ZE-_=Z=FNMA=Z+H F&8Z
4 8% | fE 511,837,000 T( = T —
= 117,854,000/ ) + WE T E &
% 710,251,000/ 7t( = & = = F:
12,504,000 7T) °

19. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 1. R AFETFTAEZNER
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2023 2022
—E-=E —_EF_-_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial asset mandatorily measured at FVPL: & #liZ A FE A B R EH
SREE
Life insurance policy ASRE = 3,684

As at 30 April 2022, the Group has requested to surrender the policy.
The net cash surrender value is US$471,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,684,000). On 3 May 2022, the policy has been terminated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 20. EWE ZRRIE  HhEW
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS HENFEAFTIE
2023 2022
—EBE-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Trade receivables fEURE 5 FRIA - 1,593
Rental and utilities deposits ek BEZ£ES 374 3,608
Other receivables H 4th B W 5k 8 131 1,355
Prepayments (note (a)) TE I FRIE (B i (a) 72,980 65,285
Amount due from a director of a subsidiary (note (b)) F& U — &M B A &) &= S ) 218
(K& (b)) = 163
73,485 72,004
Less: non-current portion — rental deposits o SERNERE — HEKR S - (47)
Current portion ENERE8 & 73,485 71,957
Notes: B
(@)  Prepayments as at 30 April 2023 mainly include prepayments to suppliers @ RZTZ=FNMA=+HX'BHFREE
for procurement of fertilisers raw materials, fertilisers and other related EeREEFREFEBEERRE R RE
products in China. The amounts prepaid to suppliers will be derecognised R ERMAAHREROTENKIE -
when the products are directly delivered to customers by the suppliers. EHEEEESERRNARRE
91% (2022: 81%) of the amounts prepaid to suppliers were paid to the 1SR E R TR G BB A FIE -
related parties of the Group as disclosed in note 33(j). The management M EES3() AT - FER A EERXEDN
considered that the credit risk in respect of the prepayments as at 30 April NB(ZE-—_F:81%) BEXHHRAE
2023 is low based on the records of product deliveries from the suppliers B - -EEERE  REHERW
to customers and the deliveries made subsequent to 30 April 2023. EERXRNERBWEHEAR T _=F

MAZ+RAZENZAER R=F=
SEMA=+RENRBZERARR

HIK o
(b)  As at 30 April 2022, amount due from the director of a subsidiary of the ) RZFTZ=ZFWNA=+H EKR—FEH
Company, Mr. Lam, was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable BRARAEEMEENRELEELER T
on demand. FFERIREKEE-
As at 30 April 2022, the trade receivables mainly comprised receivables R-ZE-_—_FWA=FTH  EBKREFX
from credit card companies and department stores for retail sales and BXrEZaEKEBERARTAGKAERA
from trading customers in wholesale segment. There were no specific ZEERBUFBLRMESBHNE ST P
credit terms granted to credit card companies and department stores. ZEWRE - BEREARAGLEREE
The receivables due from credit card companies and department ARIBEHEMNEEEESR - BREAFR
stores were usually settled from 7 to 120 days. The Group’s credit ARAINBERRIZRE—BANTTE
terms granted to trading customers generally ranged from 30 to 60 120HANE B - AEBETFTESRFPZ
days from the invoice date. FEEH-—RBRNTHEERLBEBHI0E
60H °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 20. EWE 5 R\ HEWR
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS FIERAEMNRE @

(Continued)

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant Group entities are set out

NEEEEERZNIEEE NI ZEE
SIMEZE 5 R EADEURIAHFIAT

below:
2023 2022
—EC-=4F —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET
United States Dollars (“USD”) 7T - 260

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables presented based
on the invoice dates.

REZAHE2IN 2 RWE SRAKRE D
rEsmT e

2023 2022

—E=-= —ZE-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
TE R FAT
Within 30 days 308K - 616
31 to 60 days 31260H - 300
61 to 90 days 612 90H - 35
Over 90 days @O0 H - 302
- 1,593

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

As at 30 April 2023, trade receivables that were past due but not
impaired amounted to HKS$nil (2022: HK$302,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22.

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates ranging from

21.

BeRAEEEY

RITHEHBIEN F0.001% E0.35% 2 IR 1T

0.001% to 0.35% (2022: ranging from 0.001% to 0.35%) per annum. THEFEFNNER(ZZE=Z ZF: N F0.001%
F£0.35%) 5 B °
2023 2022
—E_=5F ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
TE R FHET
Bank balances RITHE 126,168 82,429
Cash b1 22 30
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRERS 126,190 82,459

PROVISION FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND 22,

CHARGES, TRADE AND OTHER EBARERE
PAYABLES
2023 2022
—E_=HF —ZE-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F# T
Trade payables (note (a)) FE B 5 5B (H 7t (a) 32,272 24,034
Accrued employee benefit expenses EirEERAAX = 385
Provision for reinstatement costs (note (b)) 118 R A5 (B 2 (b)) = 758
Other accruals and payables HAafEET & B R ER RIB 4,825 3,073
Contract liabilities SREE 100,639 71,829
137,736 100,079
Less: non-current portion - JERNERER o5 - (74)
Current portion BN ER 2B 5 137,736 100,005

E-BEBRERARAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

22. PROVISION FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND
CHARGES, TRADE AND OTHER
PAYABLES (Continued)

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from
customers to arrange for the fertilisers and other related products to be
provided by the suppliers to the customers (the “Trading of
fertilisers”) amounting to HK$100,639,000 as at 30 April 2023 (2022:
HK$71,829,000). The amount of advances is negotiated on a case by
case basis with the customers. During the year ended 30 April 2023,
there was a decrease in contract liabilities of HK$67,189,000 (2022:
HK$75,076,000) which was included in the contract liabilities as at 30
April 2022 as a result of completion of the services on arranging the
Trading of fertilisers. For the contract liabilities as at 30 April 2023, the
entire balances will be derecognised within twelve months from 30 April
2023 when the products are directly delivered to the customers by
suppliers.

Notes:

(a) The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented based on

2. HBER X -
HMENRERE =

GHEBEREALREBHABRERRE
FlREMER R EaFREE DR
EZ)ERFPURBMEHBT R2F
— =% A =+ H A100,639,0007% T
(ZZ = — % :71,829,0008 7T ) - B 5%
MEERENBREZEHE REZR
—E_—FMA=1+RHLEFE" mw

EEHES I REE K R ==
—FMNA=ZTHFAGHNEENEGNE
f& B 467,189,000/8 (= T = = F :
75,076,000/ L) c R =T =_=F MW A
—tHZEAHNAEBE EEREHERE
BERXNGEFPR BEE-S-=FN
A=tHR+T-EARKILERIE
BREE o

Hf et

@ BEZAHMEIZENEZFAKERK

the invoice dates. DT o
2023 2022
—EB-=F B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30HA 14,679 13,993
31 to 60 days 31E60HA 4,912 6
Over 60 days F#BiE60H 12,681 10,035
32,272 24,034

(b) Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as

b AREZEERABGBEEHOT :

follows:
2023 2022
—EBo=HF —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
At beginning of the year F17 758 758
Reversals during the year F R [0 (758) —
At end of the year FR - 758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23.

24.

LEASE LIABILITIES

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—ZE—_=FmMA=1+HILFE

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the

Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting period:

23. HEEE

TRITRBEMRNAKEEHEERRE
ZREBEDBBIFR

Present value Present value

Minimum Minimum of minimum of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
2023 2022 2023 2022
=EEE xEHEE
BEEAENR SEEENK NRBRE NRIRE
—E-=H —E=-= —EBEC-=F —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FERT FET
Within 1 year —F R 144 924 135 860
After 1 year but within 2 years — £ LA |- 1B 7N #8 38 /i & - 144 - 135
After 2 years but within MELNEEBTBBAF
5 years - — - —
Total minimum lease HEHENKERE
payments 144 1,068 135 995
Total future interest expenses < 2 7| £ 3z 4858 (9) (73)
Present value of lease liabilites 78 & & &5 (& 135 995
Amount due within 1 year R—FREBz&HE (135) (860)
Amount due after 1 year R—FRIBzE&5E - 135

AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING

COMPANY

Amount due to ultimate holding company is unsecured, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand.

=
= —
==}

24. ENREERQTRE

& B 4% 12 R 1 A
BRIZEREE-

Al RIRBEER - DA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

25. BANK LOAN 25. RITE R

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHET
Revolving term loan fBRTEHER
— Unsecured, with effective interest rate of 4.94% — R —ZE - —FMF =+ H #E
per annum as at 30 April 2022 (Note 1) R BBRFEHEE494%
(Btat1) - 4,000

The carrying amount of the Group’s bank loan, which was denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and containing a repayable on demand clause,
approximated to their fair values. The applicable interest rates of the
respective bank loan ranged from Hongkong InterBank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) plus 2.85% per annum as at 30 April 2022.

As at 30 April 2023, the Group had no banking facilities. As at 30 April
2022, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of HK$4,120,000 for
overdrafts and loan. Unused facilities as at the same date were
HK$120,000. The banking facilities were granted to the subsidiaries of
the Company and were subject to an annual review.

The Group’s bank borrowing was guaranteed by the followings as at
30 April 2022:

Note 1:

a. Unlimited personal guarantees given by a director of a subsidiary of the
Company, Mr. Lam; and

b. Unlimited cross guarantees given by the subsidiaries of the Company as
borrowers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

26.

27.

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL 26. & 7
Number of
shares Share capital
il - =] [N
‘000 HK$’000
T FAET
Ordinary shares of par value HK$0.01 each FREEC BT B
Authorised EE
At 1 May 2021, 30 April 2022 and 30 April 2023 A-_Z-_—FHHA—H *
—E-—FNWA=+H
—E-_=FMWA=+H 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTEHE
At 1 May 2021, 30 April 2022 and 30 April 2023 ARZ-ZZT-_—FHHA—H *
—E-__HFMWA=+H
F—E-_=ZFMWA=+H 800,000 8,000

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs or up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month to the Scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The qualifying employees in the PRC of the Group are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$840,000 (2022:
HK$1,062,000) represent contributions payable to these schemes by
the Group in respect of the current accounting period. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years at 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2022.

E-EEBRERBRLA

27. R K8 R 5t 2

TE 8 ARG E

AEERBEMAARERERRIEH
HERABEE -HEZEEREBERAE
HzEeRKF BAEEZEESRRE
B-AKEETRAZEMEBEE THM25%%K
& %1,500/8 LA &R MiE 8 Ih{F
i A8 R R o

AEERTEZAEREREHZSNT A
FERFELRIEZBEFRKEE -
AEBARE THBK A Z 5 E L HI
A 2R PR & 51 &) 43R - AT 13 ) A 7 5K
He At ANEEEZ RN EE/EZ
BERE/EEZIHRK -

EREmEF R 2 E 2% A840,0007

T(ZF = — 4 :1,062,000#7T) » & A&
AREBRASHBEERZSHE LA

2R R B =EWA=+HER=
T _FUA=1+H WERKZHR
Al AEIRR AR EE Z B -

—E-=FF% 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 28. R AR5

TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes UEGEE2BRESS
Pursuant to the board resolution passed on 4 January 2018, the Board BER-_ZE—N\NF—ANBEBEAEZ
resolved to grant 80,000,000 share options (the “Share Option Plan”) EEeRE BEEeRRAEER
in total to employees and business associates of the Company (the 80,000,000 BB E(TBRESTE]) 7
“Grantees”), subject to acceptance of the Grantees, to subscribe for a ARz EENEBREBHTEBZAL
total of 80,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of FEBRAEMNE  AIRBAQGRAS
the Company. The Share Option Plan was approved by the 4 $£80,000,0000% & A% E {E0.01# 7T 2
Shareholders by way of poll at the Extraordinary General Meeting held TER - RER-_ZE—N\F—A=-+%H
on 25 January 2018. HETZBRREEIAREG EUNRERRT

RS AR &l

The share options granted under the Share Option Plan were not ARATKESBBEERETERE 2
accepted by the Grantees. As a result, no share options were BRE-Alt RZE_=FK_T =
recognised as granted and outstanding as at 30 April 2023 and 2022. “HFUAZTH UEEREERAEE
B R RITRE
29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29. EAREIE
As at 30 April 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any material RZBE =K T __FWA=+
capital commitments. A AEBEBEFREREREE-
30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. EXE b EE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will AEENEAEEEEBRASEEZ
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to ERAOEFELSE ANEBELER
owners of the Company through the optimisation of the debt and equity LEREGRARNDBEE AT RKEKX
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior B - AEBCEBRBEEAFERA
year. o
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the REFBZEARNEBEAEAGE  HPe s
bank loan disclosed in note 25, amount due to ultimate holding RU s EZRITER BN RKREE
company and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and BARIRELREEEE(HBESRE
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share SEBYMEAARIERA AEMGLEZ M
capital and reserves. ARAREEAELERBEER BTRA
K A# ) o
The directors of the Company reviews the capital structure from time to AKAREBS TR ERERE - NAQ A
time. As a part of this review, the directors of the Company consider EEEERTEBREREEEARAK KR
the cost of capital and the risks associated with the share capital and HERANBEITERBE AR KNEH
bank loan. Based on recommendations of the directors of the BREANAESZES BBETH
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through B FEEESELNREER K FER
the issue of new shares, new debts or the redemption of existing debts. PR AN AERE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 30. EA A bz E = )

The net debt-to-adjusted equity ratio at 30 April 2023 and 2022 was as RZE-=FR_FT-__FMA=+H
follows: WEBFEECABERARNLENT
2023 2022
—_E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Total debts BB R 46,195 40,685
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BB EeRBEEEED 126,190 82,459
Net cash HeFR (79,995) 41,774)
Total capital BARBE 16,853 21,572
Net debt-to-adjusted equity ratio BB FRELEHBERANL =X N/AFiE H N/AZR & F
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. &I A
31a. Categories of financial instruments la €T A ZER
2023 2022
—E-=HF —_EF_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FAET
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKAINEZ ERMEE 126,695 89,178
Financial asset at FVPL BAFEFABEENEREE - 3,684
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financial liabilities LRBeE
At amortised cost 128 §5 A AN 7 BR 83,157 67,182
Lease liabilities HEAE 135 995
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, financial assets at FVPL,
bank loan, trade and other payables, amount due to ultimate
holding company and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions in USD, which is the
currency other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities. The functional currency of these group entities is
Renminbi (2022: Renminbi) and certain of their trade and other
receivables are denominated in USD. The Group manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movements of the
foreign currency rates. The directors conduct periodical review of
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets at the respective reporting dates
are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

1. €@ I AEuw
S EREEBEER

BUR

AEEZIEERTIABEES
MEMERZIE RERBAEEHE
W RAFEFABEENEZHE
E ROTER BHREMEMNK
1B BN S AR R H FROR M AE
EAafE-ZEeMIAEZHBR
BEREEME 2SR ITAZA
HMEREET SRR (E¥ER R
MERR) FERBETBES
B2 - B RRE L F R 2 BRH
RTIX - -EREEEREEZSRA
@ LAREGR I B I B AU IR BUE B
oF7=piii

B s B
AEEUET(HAEBRERES
MEEERUINZ E8) #E1TH T 88
E-ZEEEEEHNNREEEAA
RE(ZZEZZF: ARBRES
MESREMERKREBETILET
FTE - AEE BB ERINERE
KREFEERHINERK - E B LI
PE 2| B 2 17 BR AR R I A % B B
= @ ¥hERINER R

REREBBAEEUINEGE

MEREENREENT :
2023 2022
—E-=H —_EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT

Trade and other receivables denominated NETHENE S REM

in USD JiE U 5k 1B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2022: 5%) increase in the functional currency of the relevant
group entities, Renminbi, relative to respective foreign currency,
USD. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in the
foreign currency rates. If the functional currency of the relevant
group entities strengthen/weaken 5% against respective foreign
currency, the Group’s post tax loss for the year would be
increased/decreased by approximately HK$nil (2022:
HK$10,000).

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances and bank loan. It is the Group’s
policy to keep a portion of its financial assets and financial
liabilities at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and HIBOR arising from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar
denominated borrowings.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for the Group’s variable-rate bank
balances and bank loan. The analysis is prepared assuming the
variable-rate bank balance and bank loan outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50-basis point on bank loan (2022: 50-basis point) and 10-basis
point on bank balances (2022: 10-basis point) increase or
decrease in the interest rates is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting interest risk internally to key management personal and
represent the management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

E-EEBRERBRLA

1. €@ I AEuw
S KEREEBEER

BUER (m)

B Rk @)

BRE DN

T3 SRR E 2 A7 7l A & B AE
AEETR2EEBEARE &
EHZINE(BIET) AHESR (ZF
ZoF %) ZHERE  HRRED
MEBRENINEFEZE¥IAR -
WRIMEHRIESR (2 ==
5%) INEE[E R FB)HEME o WA
HEEEEB 2 NEERLEA
2N FHE B E5% 0 A% EE
Rz BEBEEEIN R OTH
T(ZZ =4 : 10,0008 7T) °

A = 2 b
AEBRBZTB N KRG B ZRT
BHEMRTEXEABRESREN
XER - AEBZERRARIBE
EREHE-—HMoBREERTR
BE - UBRFEMNEREREER
B-AEBZBESREMNXER T
EETRAEEANETHEZE
REEZRTERREBRITE
EWRBZHEKE -

THHEE DT TIBBE A AE
BREZHFNERFEZ2RITESR R
WITERZMERBRERMET ©
EBESMBERRERRKRE A
ZIEZEHMEGF R ZRITERK
RITEFREBEFANRBAMBE -
AEERNDEEEERE ABEFR
FIERR BRI IBITE
KERASOEER(ZTE==F : 50
A2 M RITEB KA 10EE
E(ZE - —F  10EEER) K
THRAREE WHNKREEELHF
K2 ABE e EEATIEZ TG -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) M. 2RI AEmw

31b. Financial risk management objectives and .M K EBEEEER

policies (continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances had been 10 basis point (2022:
10 basis point) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post tax loss for the year would have
decreased/increased by approximately HK$95,000 (2022:
HK$62,000).

As at 30 April 2022, if the interest rate on bank loan had been 50
basis point higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post tax loss for the year would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$17,000.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position best represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has delegated a
team responsible for the determination of credit limits and credit
approvals.

The Group has concentration to credit risk as its current assets
as at 30 April 2023 includes prepayments of approximately
HK$66,643,000 (2022: HK$52,691,000) paid to two (2022:
three) major suppliers of the Group as disclosed in note 20(a) and
note 33()). These prepayments are not subject to ECL
assessment as they are not financial assets or contract assets.
The management considered the credit risk in respect of the
prepayments as at 30 April 2023 is low.
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WERITRBRF R EA T BKI0ME
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RZZE-_—_FWA=+H" WiEsT
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31. @ T A @)

31b. Financial risk management objectives and .M B EBEEEER
policies (continued) BE @)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) = & 8 b KOR B R 1L |
Maximum exposure and year-end staging EoRABREERIEERDE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum THREBEBEASENEERXR 2T
exposure to credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, based on AEBSMEEZEFEEEZRE
the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past due SEERR  BREHEBARKAKE
information unless other information is available without undue HEAJESHMERN  TRETE
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 30 April. NBBHEERNUA=+HZF

ROBBEIBERER-

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial 2l eBREAETHEREEERE
assets which are subject to ECL assessment. FENEREENEREE-
As at 30 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FWA=+H
12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
1218 B
A
FEFE EHAEHEERSE
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

F-RE F-RR F=BR R [#7
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
FHET FHET TET TET TERT

Trade receivables B E 5 FRIE = = = - -
Financial assets included in &+ A H b & U 75X 18
other receivables (note (b)) KL FLA E

(Kt &)
— Normal —E® 505 = - - 505
— Doubtful — Al &F = - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents R4 RIREZEY
(note (c)) (Kt 5t (c) 126,190 = = — 126,190

126,695 - - — 126,695

=E-BERERERAT —T-—=f£% 13/
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 1. €@ I AEuw
31b. Financial risk management objectives and .M K EBEEEER
policies (continued) BUR (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) =B & M &R E 1S @)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) &SRR ERD PR D E @
As at 30 April 2022 R-_ZE-_—_FWA=+H
12-month
ECLs Life time ECLs
1218 A
TEHA
EE®EE > HBEHEREEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach
F—BE F_BE F=BE 1%

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TET THET TRT TAET

Trade receivables (note (a)) [EWE 5 R IE
(K7 (@) — — — 1,593 1,593
Financial assets included in 5+ A £ fib & Ui 7 18
other receivables (note (b)) K& B EE

(Kt 7))
— Normal =5 5,126 — — — 5,126
— Doubtful — A &t — — — — —
Cash and cash equivalents & RIREZEY
(note (c)) (Hiix(c) 82,459 — — — 82,459
87,5685 = = 1,593 89,178

Notes: K st -

() As at 30 April 2022, trade receivables primarily consist of credit (@) NR-ZE-_—_FmWA=+H:FElK
card companies and department stores and arose from retail sales B RBIEREAEEMEDS
of watches in Hong Kong. The directors monitor their balances on EHERMENERRATIRAE
an ongoing basis. In addition, the Group performs impairment NEIFFBRIE - EE5 A
assessment under ECL model on trade balances individually. ZWER N AEERE S
Trade receivables in connection with these customers are with AR ERENREEEEEREET
good credit quality and no past due history. In addition, the R HESEE EEZERE 2
management of the Group considers these assets are short-term FEWESRELAEEEEZRITFNR
in nature and the probability of default is negligible. In this regard, WHEBEENES o N K&
the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly HEEBEEBERZAREEEBES M
reduced. B BE KSR AR o 3

mME EERRASENEE
[E B B K iR 4 o
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o) The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to
be “doubtful”.

(c) The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because cash are placed
with reputable banks with external credit rating of at least “A”
assigned by an international credit-rating agency or state owned.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowing and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loan with a repayment
on demand clause is included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the bank choosing to exercise its rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.

E-EEBRERBRLA

1. €@ I AEuw
S KEREEBEER

BUER (m)

= E & & EE S @)
EeEBEFERDEER
2% (@)

ffat - (&)

b ERAEMELFENESREE
MEAENERRERB L ERE
HIRARE M REEERAR
[EF|-BR ZFcBMEEN
EEERBRIARR]-

© "RBELEERBRERG2AR
BeDERRESEREERN
REBLETELARINIBEER
ARNEERFNRTHESR

57
mEE T R

REERDESARK AEEE
ERYHRRe MR EBOER
EEEERBRENARAEBNE
BEERHESIMHAERERE
KBFENKE EEEEERR
TEANERER  YERETE
REL o

TRANRNEEHFETESREE
WER T A WA DT - ZRIRA
BRAEENFOKZREAHNE
REEAMBARSRERE - LHE
2 RRAREREERGRORT
ERTDEAZKERHBE - M iwmi
TREARERITERERN - Kb
RTEESHABENIHMA SN
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted

31. €@ I B

Sh. BEERBEEEEZER
BUR ()

ABE € E R @
TEHIFERESELSRE -
FlerersIsfix BIRMES

amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the

reporting period.

BRBEHARIAEHREL -

More than  More than  More than
Less than 3 months to 1yearto 2yearsto Undiscounted Carrying
Financial liabilities SRAE Ondemand 3 months 1 year 2 years 5years cash flows Amount
3EAML 1ELE 28N L AEB
RER SRIEAR E1F B2F Z5F BeRE BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTET TR TR FET TR FTET
As at 30 April 2023 RZB-Z%
A=tH
Trade and other payables B REMER
RIE - 37,007 - - - 37,007 37,007
Amount due to ultimate FER R ER D B
holding company EQE| 46,060 - - - - 46,060 46,060
Lease liabilities HEEE - 52 92 - - 144 135
46,060 37,149 92 - - 83,301 83,292
As at 30 April 2022 R-B=-=%
A=tH
Trade and other payables e ELT A
A - 27,492 - - - 27,492 27,492
Bank loan BRIER 4,000 - - - - 4,000 4,000
Amount due to ultimate R R AR A A
holding company A 35,690 - - - - 35,690 35,690
Lease liabilities HERRE - 767 157 144 - 1,068 995
39,690 28,259 157 144 — 68,250 68,177
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loan with a repayment on demand clause is included in the
“on demand” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30
April 2023, the aggregate undiscounted principal amount of
these bank loan amounted to HK$nil (2022: HK$4,000,000).
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors
do not believe that it is probable that the bank will exercise its
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The table
below analyses the Group’s bank loan into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the end of reporting
period to the contractual maturity date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HE-Z-_=FMA=1+HILFE

31. €@ I B
S KEREEBEER

BUER ()

B E S R @
EEERBREREXHRTE
RETALEXEEBA DR ESK]
ZEEBNA - R_FT=_=ZFNH
A=+H ZRTERZKUE
ReBBEATBEL(ZE ==
4,000,000 7T) « LE R ALEE 2
B ROR - EERBIBIT AR A
CITFEERABEERZHEE T
ABREBEAREHREAHNI A
Z BT IR IRAAE R H A AR
HAREBE ZRITERETOMN °

Maturity Analysis — Bank loan with a repayment on demand
clause based on scheduled repayments

AMBASN - ARARERENKIXABEAHERN

RITER
Less than 1-2 2-5 Over Undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years 5years cash flows amount
REER
LPR1E 1ZE25F 2FE5F 5FNE ReRh& KEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$O000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FTAHET TFTHERT TFTEEX FHET FTAXT
30 April 2023 —E-=
B=+H - - - — = -
30 April 2022 —_EF-—
WMA=+H 4,001 — — — 4,001 4,000

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

E-EEBRERBRLA

P EBAE B2 BB ER
SHRMEEZHEHH AR AL
S B 0T S B B (ROF B
HETAY S EHEHED -
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

32.

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

METHEENEBYHER

TREJNAEEREZTHELCBEE
BB BERESNFERCEH -BE
RHELAZABAEAKSELGARER
EXRTFERASAERIBERIRKES
MEBRIERBREIHELEZRER
BZEE

Amount due Amount
to ultimate due to a
holding Lease director of
company liabilities Bank loan a subsidiary Total
ES—E
EN&A& Ffs B A7)
ZRAE Z—%
NE HESE ®ITEX EENE #ct
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FH&T FAT FAT
At 1 May 2022 JrAp =
AH—H 35,690 995 4,000 — 40,685
Financing cash flows MEBRSRE
Proceeds T8 s 10,370 — - — 10,370
Repayments B - (860) (4,000) — (4,860)
Interests paid 21 F & - (65) (31) — (96)
Non-cash changes: FEIRL T
Finance costs B & KA — 65 31 — 96
At 30 April 2023 R-B-—=f
A=+H 46,060 135 - - 46,195
At 1 May 2021 R-ZZE=——F
HAH—H 27,090 7,932 10,194 — 45,216
Financing cash flows MERESRE
Proceeds FT18 ;R 8,600 — — 5,800 14,400
Repayments B - (6,187) (6,194) — (12,381)
Interests paid 2 fHF B — (223) (302) = (525)
Non-cash changes: IR EH :
Increase in lease liabilites 5] 37 #7110 49 B # &Y
from entering into new THESFEEmM
leases — 361 — — 361
Derecognised upon early — #R |FFERRIZ A AR 1
termination of lease HE — (1,111) — — (1,111)
Finance costs B & KA — 223 302 = 525
Disposal of a subsidiary & — {8 2 & - — - (5,800) (5,800)
At 30 April 2022 AP
MA=4+H 35,690 995 4,000 — 40,685
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS B.EBEIRZ

()  1n addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere () BZEEATERREMES
in these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the WERHNXSHEHESRIN REAE
Group entered into the following transactions with related parties: B AEEEBE FETTIAT

R :

2023 2022

—E=-= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHETT
Commission income (note (a)) BE WA (B @) 8,637 15,462
Commission income (note (b)) e WA (B b)) 24,447 9,380
Advances from ultimate holding company RERBIERDF ZER 10,370 8,600

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the TO &N BEH REMRES :

reporting period:

2023 2022
—Eg-= P S —
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER F& T

Prepayment to a related party (note (a)) ) B8 56 75 S A< O TR AN 5RIB (M 7 (a)) 31,391 43,937
Trade payables to a related party (note (a)) F& 1<t B EE 75 ) FE < 88 5 3k 18

(Kt % (@) (18,277) (13,386)
Prepayment to related parties (note (b)) ) (28 B 5 S A5 RO TR 3R 3B (B 2 (b)) 35,326 8,754
Trade payables to a related party (note (b)) JF& 1~ B E% 77 ) fE 1 B 5 5718

(K13 b)) (4,417) =
Amount due to ultimate holding company & 1~ F& 42 42 iE A 7] 78 (46,060) (35,690)

Amount due to ultimate holding company is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand. Receivables and
payables from/(to) other related parties were trade nature
balances, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The carrying amounts of the amounts due from/(to) related
parties approximated to their fair values and are denominated in
Renminbi (2022: Renminbi) except for amount due to ultimate
holding company which is denominated in HK$ (2022: HK$).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M A (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 33. B8 15 X J (@)

() (continued)

Notes:

() The related party is an entity of which the controlling shareholder is
a cousin of the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder. The
Group had entered into arrangements for the purchases of
fertilisers such as urea and compound fertilisers from the related
party to be sold to independent third party customers. Such
purchases from the related party for the year amounted to
approximately HK$198,795,000 (2022: HK$394,720,000). As the
Group is considered to be acting as agent in respect of these
purchase and sale transactions, the Group recognised commission
income of HK$8,637,000 (2022: HK$15,462,000) for acting as
agent in these sales and purchases of fertilisers and other related
products.

(b) The Group had entered into arrangements for the purchases of
fertilisers such as urea and compound fertilisers from related
parties, which were controlled by the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company before 15 February 2023 and
significantly influenced by the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company since 15 February 2023, to be sold to independent
third party customers. Such purchases from the related parties for
the year amounted to approximately HK$498,636,000 (2022:
HK$270,440,000). As the Group is considered to be acting as
agent in respect of these purchase and sale transactions, the
Group recognised commission income of HK$24,447,000 (2022:
HK$9,380,000) for acting as agent in these sales and purchases of
fertilisers and other related products.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5 B S R R B AL ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(i) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of members of key management of the Group,
comprising the directors of the Company, during the year was as
follows:

3. BEHAIRS @
(i) TEEBEASEH

AEBEITEERAR(BEARA
ER)RAFEANTFMAT

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT FHET
Fees, salaries, bonus, other allowances B e T4 HanEay

and benefits in kind R BN & 9,675 5,448

Retirement benefit costs — Mandatory BRRBAKA —aslERES
Provident Fund Scheme =T 2| 52 43
9,727 5,491

The remuneration of directors is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

EENFM O BFHEESRE
HEAXRREMEBHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

34. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 34. €@ I B2 A FEER

INSTRUMENTS
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of TRIHEFAAEF L] TE 2 AFEE
the Group’s financial instruments: [E 45 :
For the year ended 30 April 2023, the directors consider that the HE-_ZE_=FNWA=1tBLFE =
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised ERE ESEVBERRPERNILE
in the consolidated financial statements measured at amortised cost HEEAGFENSREER SR ABENER
approximate to their fair values. EEEEQNFERES -
Assets measured at fair value: BAFEFEZEE:
As at 30 April 2022 R-EBE-=-FMA=+H
Fair value measurement using
AF @5 B 5
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs  Valuation technique(s) and
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) key input(s)
INVER AR BRABE SEANAEE
2B A SR A SR
(B—%H) (E=4) (B=f) HERMREZHARE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET
Financial asset at FVPL — 3,684 — Based on the account value of the policy
as provided by the insurance company
RATEHEZEREE ERREAFRENRENKRSEAE
During the year ended 30 April 2023, there were no transfers of fair REZE-FT_=FWOA=1THIEFE
value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into N 2REEZE—"REE_HAFEE
or out of Level 3 for the financial assets. The Group did not have any SAEvETEER . iEmE AsEH S
financial liabilities and financial assets measured at fair value under =R R B _=ZFR_ZT__FMWA
Level 3 as at 30 April 2023 and 2022. =+ 8 A&EEYETARAFES
EeRmEBBEREREEUNRE=ZR
RN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B B S R R Y AL (8

For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 35. HE—REH B2 A
On 18 February 2022, the Group disposed of 100% equity interest in RZEBE-_Z—_F_A+NH x&EEH
Fulham and assigned the debt due from Fulham by Treasure Ascent E FEBE1I00%KRE I ESBEERE
International Limited (“Treasure Ascent”) of approximately BErarm((Eadl)ENNEEZELY
HK$13,614,000 to Mr. Lam for an aggregate consideration of 13,614,000 THE T ML 4 RKE
HK$14,400,000. The principal activity of Fulham is holding a yacht and /14,400,000 0 FEZ X EXEHB R
club membership in Hong Kong. As a result of the disposal, the Group REBEEEERESZITSE - AR D
has lost control over Fulham. E AEBEEKREH LEENIEHIHE-
The aggregate net liabilities of Fulham as at the date of disposal were FERHERARNBEEEEENT
as follows:
HK$’000
FHET
Net liabilities disposed of: FTHENTEREZAEFE
Intangible asset — club membership EEE —R&EPSiE 4,000
Yacht % it 6,650
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 12
Other payables H b JE 5 F0E (5)
Amount due to Treasure Ascent JENEERA (13,614)
Net liabilities disposed of FrHEaEFE (2,957)
Consideration RE 14,400
Amount due from Fulham assigned to Mr. Lam  ## 3 F 4k 5t 4 2 el - B %18 (13,614)
786
Gain on disposal & W Es 3,743
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HEMESEMIE S AEEE
Cash consideration received (note) B UWIR & KRB (H:7) 8,600
Bank balances and cash disposed of e ERTES#NIES (12)
8,588
Note: In March 2022, HK$8,600,000 of the consideration was settled by cash, Bat - R=—_ZT=——4F=A K&+ 58,600,000
the remaining consideration of HK$5,800,000 was settled against the BITAE S EE - 22K (E5,800,000%8
outstanding balance in the amount due to a director of a subsidiary which TRILESN —HEHBAG —RBEER
arose from fund transfer from Mr. Lam to Tic Tac Time Company Limited, HEHKRERELEE 2 EALER —
a subsidiary of the Company, during the year prior to the disposal. FHEMELEBELSEZEARANB A

AHEERARARAESL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 #HZE—Z-_=FNA=+HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 6. EARATFTEHELTIW

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY H15
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the REHARARATTIEWNB AR ZHF
reporting period are set out below. YT o
Particulars of
issued
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ registered Principal activities and
Name establishment capital Equity interest held place of operation
ERRE/ \
B WAL/ RIS AMERZFE Fiks R TEXBREERE
2023 2022
—E-=f —T-—F
Directly held EERA
Tic Tac International Company Limited ' British Virgin Islands (BVI’) Uss$2 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
HEARERAR RERAEE (ARELES]) 2% REBREER
POI Limited ! BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
EERAHES = REBREERR
Indirectly held MERE
City Great Limited ' Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Wholesale of watches in Hong Kong
WERRAR' Bk 18T REB R E MRS
Jenus Top International Limited * Hong Kong HK$300,000 100% 100% Provision of management services
in Hong Kong
HEARERAR B 300,000/ 7T REBRUERRY
Sun Step Asia Limited ' Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100% Wholesale of watches in Hong Kong
BETHER AR B 500,0007% 70 WEB RS E
Tic Tac Time Company Limited ' Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100% Retail of watches in Hong Kong
BEEZERAR BE 3,000,0007% 7T REBNERZTE
Treasure Ascent ' Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100% Provision of management services
in Hong Kong
ERERBRAR B 500,000 7T REBREEBRYE
Prosper One Industrial Investment BV US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
Limited ° RERUES 1% REAREER
Prosper One Commerce Investment BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
Limited | RERAES 1% REBRE R
Prosper One Eco-Technology Limited ' Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
ERRMRARAR BE 10,000/ 7T REEREER
Prosper One Fertilizer Limited ' Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
EEXBRAR B 1T REBREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

=]
&)

H1B

al

B.AATEIENEATW

Particulars of
issued
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ registered Principal activities and
Name establishment capital Equity interest held place of operation
ERTRE/ .
A% EMAL/ RIS AMERZFE Fif R TEXBREEHY
2023 2022
—E_=E -—E-_F
Prosper One Resources Commerce Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong
Limited '
E-EREHERAR" BE 1B REBREERR
Prosper One Well Rich Commerce Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Inactive
Limited '
E-EHMBSERAA) B 1T TEER
RE-RREHARAF PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Provision of consulting services
i 50,000,000/ 7T REFARY
LRE—EERRBRAR 2 PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Trading of fertiisers and other
related products in PRC
HE 50,000,000/ 70 RAEEEER R E B E R
LWRE—tIEHBRARF > PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Trading of fertiisers and other
related products in PRC
HhE 50,000,0007% 7T REEEBEHN REMBEER
LRE—ERESHERAR 2 PRC HK$50,000,000 100% 100% Trading of fertiisers and other
related products in PRC
HE 50,000,000/ 7T ROEEREH REMREER

! Incorporated as a limited liability company under local jurisdiction 1

2 Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law 2

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length. i o

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding as at 30
April 2023 and 2022 or at any time during both years.

RIBFEHEREMKLASERAA
REFEFEAREMBIIERE LK

ARABEERA LRITZARAMN
BRAATIEFNEAKRBEZREREER
BE-ARAEZRAR HIEMHE
NAZHABREAFBARAT TR &A

MEWBATR - ZE-_=FFR_T_—
FMA =+ Bk EFE R EA

BEMAREEZERES
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e B S R Y A ()

For the year ended 30 April 2023 BE—Z-=#MA=1+HILFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37. X RAHMBERRKRREE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

ARBRBERR 2B BRARKEH

the end of the reporting period includes: BIE
2023 2022
—E==-= —ZE-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interest in subsidiaries NG 3 5,391 10,860
Current assets B E E
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUCHT B A Rl IE 3,906 3,849
Other receivables and prepayments H fth JiE U SR IB M B 3B 33 105
Cash and cash equivalents HeREESZEY 169 520
4,108 4,474
Total assets BEE 9,499 15,334
Capital and reserves B AR R
Share capital A% 8,000 8,000
Reserves a1 (47,468) (29,463)
Total equity 7 # AR FE (39,468) (21,463)
Current liability mEBE
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K& H A FE T 58 48,967 36,797
Total liability BEHER 48,967 36,797
Total equity and liabilities BE=kEE 9,499 15,334
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For the year ended 30 April 2023 HZE—Z - =FNA=+HILFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION JT. XA RAEMBMRR KR
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY fié 18 )

(Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves KATZFEET
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B’ 5% E B fEE RZitE B BEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FAET

Balance at 1 May 2021 R-TE-—F

hBA—BzZ&% 118,368 66,887 (197,588) (12,333)
Total comprehensive 2EHBZERE
expense
Loss for the year FREE = = (17,130) (17,130)

Balance at 30 April 2022 R-ZZE——

and 1 May 2022 MA=+HK
—_E-=
hA— B 118,368 66,887 (214,718) (29,463)

Total comprehensive 2HEAXHAR
expense
Loss for the year FRNEE — — (18,005) (18,005)

Balance at 30 April 2023 R =-T - =4
mA=+A & 118,368 66,887 (232,723) (47.968)

E-ERERAERAT —S-—=g£3% 151



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEMBEHME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group forthe AEBBEZREATHRFENEEIUREE K

last five financial years is set out below: BEZBEHIAT
RESULTS 4
Year ended 30 April
BZMWA=tHLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

—E-NE ZZT-TF —T--% C-T-_-F ZEBZ=
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET TAEL TAEL TAET TERT

Revenue Yo zs 202,349 94,193 83,372 75,269 41,510
Cost of sales HEMK (112,744) (49,816) (39,303) (34,647) (5,005)
Gross profit E | 89,605 44,377 44,069 40,622 36,505
Other gain and losses Hinlm R ER 1,913 3,764 6,001 5,413 856
Selling and distribution costs BERDEKAR (80,515) (74,702) (26,795) (29,006) (13,880)
Administrative expenses THE Y (32,508) (27,292) (19,792) (18,801) (20,889)
Other expense E sz (1,000) - - - -

Operating (loss)/profit L (F8E)/RH (22,505) (53,853) 3,573 (1,772) 2,592

Finance costs BMELA (128) (2,326) (1,229) (525) (96)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRFTBH Al (B R),HA (22,633) (56,179) 2,344 (2,297) 2,496

Income tax expense FigEsiAab (4,260) (2,826) 3,113 (4,149 (5,153)
Loss for the year FEFE (26,893) (59,005) (769) (6,446) (2,657)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income i 2E (%), M (153) (781) 2,465 (706) (2,062)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income EE2H (%) /hE 4%
for the year (27,046) (59,786) 1,696 (7,152) (4,719)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income S\ T AT EEEE

for the year attributable to: 2EGAX)WBRBE:
Owners of the Company ARAIEE A (27,046) (59,786) 1,696 (7,152) (4,719)
Non-controlling interests R RERS = - _ _ _
(27,046) (59,786) 1,696 (7,152) (4,719)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
For the year ended 30 April
BZMWA=tHLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF Z—T-TF —E-—-&F —ZE-Z —EB_-=
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FAEL FTAEL TAEL AT TERL
Total assets BEE 235,015 190,908 185,802 163,860 201,597
Total liabilties BEE (149,227) (163,880) (157,078) (142,288) (184,744)
Total equity MR 85,788 27,028 28,724 21,572 16,853
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